Eötvös Loránd University

Faculty of Science

Center for Environmental Science

Regeneration success of sessile oak under different gap cuttings

in an oak-hornbeam forest

MSc THESIS

Prepared by:

GITAU MARGARET GATHONI

Environmental Science MSc

Supervisor:

Dr. Flóra Tinya

Institute of Ecology and Botany, Centre for Ecological Research

Internal advisor:

Dr. Tibor Kalapos

Department of Plant Systematics, Ecology and Theoretical Biology



Budapest 2023

Statement

Name:	Gitau Margaret Gathoni
Neptun ID:	ND6DDJ
ELTE Faculty of Science:	MSc Environmental Science
Specialization:	Applied Ecology
Title of diploma work:	Regeneration success of sessile oak under different gap cuttings
in an oak-hornbeam forest	

As the author of the diploma work, I declare with disciplinary responsibility that my thesis is my own intellectual product and the result of my own work. Furthermore, I declare that I have consistently applied the standard rules of references and citations.

I acknowledge that the following cases are considered plagiarism:

– using a literal quotation without quotation mark and adding citation;

-referencing content without citing the source;

- representing another person's published thoughts as my own thoughts.

Furthermore, I declare that the printed and electronic versions of the submitted diploma work are textually and contextually identical.

Budapest, 2023



Signature of Student

Dedication

To you, dear researcher, may your quest for knowledge be fulfilled.

Acknowledgement

I acknowledge the almighty God for his abundant grace in my life. I am immensely grateful to my supervisor Dr. Flóra Tinya for always supporting and guiding me throughout the thesis. I thank Csenge Veronika Horváth, Dr. Bence Kovács, Dr. Csaba Németh and Julia Schadeck Locatelli for their contribution to the data collection. I am grateful to all researchers in temperate oak forests whose literature made it possible to understand temperate ecosystems. I thank my advisor Dr. Tibor Kalapos for his guidance throughout the thesis. I also thank Dr. Péter Ódor for allowing me to conduct my research under the Pilis Gap Experiment. I am deeply grateful to my parents, siblings, aunts, uncles, cousins, nieces, nephews and friends; their constant love and encouragement have kept me going. My profound appreciation to Edgar, my partner and best friend, for being my greatest cheerleader.

I acknowledge the financial support of Hungary's National Research, Development and Innovation Fund (K128441, K143270, PD 134302) and the Hungarian Academy of Science (MTA Sustainable Development and Technology National Programme). The János Bolyai Research Scholarship of the Hungarian Academy of Sciences supported the thesis supervisor (Flóra Tinya). I am eternally grateful to the Stipendium Hungaricum scholarship's support throughout my studies and stay in Hungary. Special thanks to Eötvös Loránd University Center for Environmental Science for facilitating my studies.

Contents

Statement	i
Dedication	11
List of Abbreviations	vii
Abstract	viii
1. Introduction	1
1.1 Background of the study1.2 Aim of the research	1 2
1.2.1 The aims of the Pilis Gap Experiment1.2.2 The aims of the thesis1.2.3 Specific objectives1.2.4 Hypothesis	2 2 3 3
2. Literature review	4
2.1 Disturbance regimes of temperate forests2.2 Canopy gaps in forests	4 5
2.2.1 Gap microclimate2.2.2 Biodiversity in gaps2.2.3 Regeneration in gaps	5 5 6
2.3 Characteristics of oak species	6
2.3.1 Importance and ecology of oaks2.3.2 Oak regeneration and its problems2.3.3 Regeneration success of oaks in gaps	6 7 8
2.4 Forest management practices in Europe	9
2.4.1 Rotation forestry management.2.4.2 Shifting from rotation forestry management2.4.3 Continuous cover forestry	9 9 9
3. Materials and methods	.11
3.1 Study area	.11
3.2 Experimental design	.11
3.3 Data collection	.12
3.3.1 Light estimation3.3.2 Measurement of soil water content	.12 .13
3.3.3 Sampling of the understory herbs and natural regeneration	.13
3.3.4 Acorn counting	.14
3.3.5 Oak survival study	.14 14
2.4 Data analysis	11
	14
3.4.1 Light calculation from hemispherical photographs	.14
3.4.3 Herb cover calculation and perennial forb cover calculation	.15
3.4.4 Survival rate calculation	.16
3.4.5 Growth rate calculation for oak saplings	.16
3.4.6 Abundance of the natural regeneration	.16

3.4.7 Statistical analysis and visualisation16
4. Results
4.1 Effect of the different sized and shaped gaps on environmental variables (light, soil moisture, herbaceous understory vegetation)
4.1.1 Light
 4.2 Acorn supply in the different gap types
4.3.1 Seedling survival of sessile oak244.3.2 Individual growth rate of sessile oak saplings24
4.4 Species richness and abundance of natural regeneration in different gap types25
5. Discussion
5.1. Influence of gap size and shape on the abiotic environment and understory vegetation
5.1.2 Light
5.2. Effects of gap size on sessile oak acorn supply
5.3.2 Survival rate
5.4. Variation in species richness and abundance with gap type during natural regeneration
6. Conclusions and implications for management 38 References 40 APPENDICES 49
Appendix 1: List of the understory species

List of Figures

Figure 2. Treatment effects on light	Figure 1. Location of the study area.	12
Figure 3. Treatment effects on soil water content in 2018 and 2022	Figure 2. Treatment effects on light	19
Figure 4. Most frequent species in the 30 understory quadrats of $2m \times 2m$ in 2022	Figure 3. Treatment effects on soil water content in 2018 and 2022	20
Figure 5. Mean relative cover of the most abundant species in the 30 understory quadrats of $2m \times 2m$ in 2022	Figure 4. Most frequent species in the 30 understory quadrats of $2m \times 2m$ in 2022	21
$2m \times 2m$ in 2022	Figure 5. Mean relative cover of the most abundant species in the 30 understory quadrat	s of
Figure 6. Treatment effects on vegetation cover in 2018 and 2022	$2m \times 2m$ in 2022	21
8	Figure 6. Treatment effects on vegetation cover in 2018 and 2022	22

Figure 7. Treatment effect on the acorn supply in 2018 and 2020.	23
Figure 8. Treatment effect on Quercus petraea survival rate and growth	24
Figure 9. Total number of saplings for the most abundant woody species in 30) understory
quadrats of $2m \times 2m$ in 2018	25
Figure 10. Total number of saplings of the most abundant woody species in 30 quadrats of $2m \times 2m$ in 2022.) understory 26
Figure 11. The abundance change of the most abundant woody species between 20	18 and 2022
Figure 12. Treatment effects on the abundance change of Quercus petraea	
Figure 13. Treatment effects on Carpinus betulus abundance change	
Figure 14. Treatment effects on Cornus sanguinea abundance change	

List of Tables

Table 1. Soil water content in the 2018 vegetation season	19
Table 2. Soil water content in the 2022 vegetation season	20
Table 3. Number of saplings of the most abundant woody species in each size category in 2	2018.
	26
Table 4. Distribution of the most abundant woody species in each size category in 2022.	26

List of Abbreviations

IPBES	Intergovernmental Science-Policy Platform on Biodiversity and Ecosystem							
	Services							
TEEB	The Economics of Ecosystem and Biodiversity							
FAO	Food and Agriculture Organization							
RFM	Rotation Forestry Management							
CCF	Continuous Cover Forestry							
СО	Control							
LC	Large Circular							
LE	Large Elongated							
SC	Small Circular							
SE	Small Elongated							
LAI	Leaf Area Index							
USA	United States of America							
EV	Exposure Value							
LiDAR	Light Detection and Ranging							
DSF	Direct Site Factor							
ISF	Indirect Site Factor							
SWC	Soil Water Content							
GLMM	Generalized Linear Mixed Model							

Abstract

There is a shift in the European region towards a more inclusive forestry management system encompassing ecosystem services while improving the biodiversity status and reversing forest degradation besides timber production. One of the ways forest management authorities are trying to achieve this is nature-based forest management that mimics the natural stand dynamics. Among the temperate nature-based management techniques is the creation of forest openings. Gap creation in forests is advantageous for light-demanding species such as *Quercus petraea* and results in the regeneration success of saplings established in the gaps. Conducted in northern Hungary, this study investigates the regeneration success of naturally occurring *Quercus petraea* saplings in artificially created canopy gaps ranging between 0.015 ha to 0.03 ha. The study utilised four canopy opening types (large circular, large elongated, small circular and small elongated gaps), hereafter referred to as treatments and one control site, forming five plots with six replicates. The effect of the treatments was studied on the acorn supply, the height growth, survival and abundance of *Quercus petraea* saplings.

Additionally, several environmental variables of the treatments were investigated (soil moisture, light, understory herbs and perennial forbs) to see how they affected the regeneration of the *Quercus petraea* saplings. The study compared the pre-treatment conditions with the short-term conditions after treatment. Independent and dependent variables were measured on plots established at the centre and the northern part of each of the 30 plots.

The results revealed that gap cuttings significantly affected the acorn supply, the height increment and the abundance of the *Quercus petraea* saplings. However, initial survival was driven by other factors independent of the gap type. Abiotic conditions (light and soil moisture) proved the most favourable for oak regeneration in the large circular gaps. However, these circumstances also promoted the competing vegetation (perennial forbs and some woody species such as *Carpinus betulus* and *Cornus sanguinea*). Large elongated and small circular gaps offered only slightly lower resources (light and soil moisture), with lower competition. Thus, in these gap types, more oak saplings could reach the larger size categories, with a slightly smaller but considerable growth. The height increment of oak saplings was the weakest in small elongated gaps, but it also ensured their survival, while acorn production was the highest in this gap type. Our findings imply that oaks can be regenerated in small-scaled gaps. However, the competing perennial species must be controlled for successful regeneration in sites with suitable abiotic factors (soil moisture and light), or regeneration should be favoured using smaller or narrower gaps.

1. Introduction

1.1 Background of the study

Forests are important ecosystems because they are vital in biodiversity conservation, habitat provision, supply of raw materials, recreation, climate regulation, and soil erosion control. Forests worldwide have been exploited mostly for timber and wood products. Consequently, this has led to a decline in the natural forests. The increasing human population has also led to deforestation for establishing settlements and other infrastructure to support livelihoods. Forest biodiversity is determined by the number of individual species in the forests and by the genetic, structural, and functional diversity (Muys et al., 2022). European forests comprise diverse ecosystems ranging from coniferous-dominated boreal forests to temperate deciduous and Mediterranean forests (Muys et al., 2022). Species diversity is declining significantly in all these forest types, with very few remaining pristine forests. Major threats to biodiversity are the land use changes over time; for forests, it is the widespread use of conventional forest management (IPBES 2018, Felipe-Lucia et al., 2020). Most European forests are utilized for timber similar to forests in other continents. To this end, it is important that forest management systems not only focus on wood production but on other aspects of forests, such as biodiversity conservation and preserving ecosystem functions and services (Forest Europe, 2020). In the past decades, there has been increased emphasis on multifunctional forest management (Peura et al., 2018). More diverse forests offer many ecosystem services in addition to their numerous species. The Economics of Ecosystem and Biodiversity report (TEEB, 2010) highlights the significance of the ecosystem service cascade in which biodiversity forms the basis for other ecosystem services. Hence, increasing the biological diversity increases the monetary and non-monetary benefits of forests to humans. For instance, biological diversity enables timber production through the development of suitable tree species along with mycorrhizal fungi that increase tree productivity.

In Hungary, forests cover about 20% of the territorial area. Of this, nearly 60% constitutes the native tree species such as sessile oak (*Quercus petraea*), pedunculate oak (*Quercus robur*, beech (*Fagus sylvatica*) and hornbeam ((*Carpinus betulus*). The remaining 40% is dominated by plantations of exotic tree species, mainly black locust (*Robinia pseudoacacia*) and poplars (*Populus spp*). National Agrarian Centre, 2022). The government owns nearly 60% of the forests, while the remaining percentage is owned by individuals and companies (National Agrarian Centre, 2022). National laws regulate forest management, and government authorities supervise forests (Jáger et al., 2015).

Previous research concentrated on oaks' photosynthetic activity and growth in experimental conditions (Vernay et al., 2016). Nevertheless, studies and publications dealing with oak regeneration in forests with competition from other species are rare (Diaci et al., 2008; Dobrowolska et al., 2008; Březina et al., 2011). Implementing continuous cover forestry enables regeneration of trees in natural conditions, which helps prevent the clearing of huge areas in forests hence maintaining the physiological characteristic of forests (Pommerening & Murphy, 2004). In implementing continuous cover forestry in Hungary, the Pilis Gap Experiment was introduced to study how the various gap types influence regeneration. This study is conducted under the framework of the Pilis Gap Experiment.

1.2 Aim of the research

1.2.1 The aims of the Pilis Gap Experiment

The Pilis Gap Experiment was started in 2018 as a collaboration between the Institute of Ecology and Botany, Centre for Ecological Research and Pilis Park Forestry Ltd. It is located in an oak–hornbeam forest that was 90 years old at the start of the study. The experiment aims at investigating what type of canopy gaps should be created to make sure that there is simultaneous forest regeneration, forest microclimate preservation, and biodiversity preservation. The experiment investigates the effects of gap size (whether large or small), gap shapes (circular or elongated) and the procedure of gap creation. One method is creating gaps in one step, and the other is creating the gaps in two steps (extended gaps) by first creating small, elongated gaps and, after some years expanding them to large circular gaps. The gaps created are compared to closed forest controls with no treatments. Microclimate, soil and litter conditions are investigated in each treatment. As biodiversity indicators, understory vegetation, enchytraeid worms, carabid beetles, spiders, dipterans and soil microbiome are investigated in the experiment.

1.2.2 The aims of the thesis

This thesis aims to compare the regeneration of the different tree species under different gap treatments. The study focuses mainly on the regeneration success of *Quercus petraea*, a dominant canopy-forming species in the oak–hornbeam forests. The regeneration success is evaluated based on acorn production, seedling survival, and the individual *Quercus petraea* saplings growth. The number of species and abundance of natural regeneration are also studied to understand regeneration success better. The environmental variables affecting regeneration are also studied: the incident light, soil moisture content, and abundance of the understory herbs

and forbs. The "extended" gaps of the experiment have not been enlarged yet (they are still in the stage of small elongate gaps); thus, in the current thesis, these gaps are not studied.

1.2.3 Specific objectives

- To examine how the various sized and shaped gaps affect the environmental variables (light, soil moisture and understory vegetation);
- 2. To study the acorn supply in the different gap types;
- 3. To investigate the survival and growth rates of individual sessile oak saplings in the different gap-cuttings;
- 4. To investigate the species richness and natural regeneration abundance in different gap types

1.2.4 Hypothesis

In this research, we hypothesise that

- 1. The larger gaps will have a greater effect on the environmental variables. Based on the initial results published by Horváth et al. (2023), the gap size is expected to mainly influence the light, while the gap shape will influence soil water content. We suppose that both gap size and shape will influence the understory cover.
- 2. Gaps will receive less acorns than the closed part of the stand, especially the large circular gaps.
- 3. The seedling survival and growth rates of individual *Quercus petraea* saplings will be greater in the larger gaps, especially in the large circular ones.
- 4. In the fourth year after gap creation, species richness of the regeneration will have only a moderate response to the various gap-cuttings. However, it will slightly increase in all gaps. The abundance of regeneration is expected to increase in the gaps, but the different species will respond differently to the conditions of the various gap types.

2. Literature review

2.1 Disturbance regimes of temperate forests

A disturbance is an occurrence that affects the ecosystems, habitats, or individuals at a given time, including environmental changes and destructive events, regardless of whether they are considered normal for a particular system (White & Pickett, 1985). Disturbance regimes refer to the accumulative impacts of disturbances occurring in a given area over a specified period, often characterised by intensity, frequency, regularity and duration (Turner, 2010). Forests are dynamic ecosystems shaped by natural and anthropogenic disturbances that operate spatially and temporarily on different scales (Lorimer & Halpin, 2014).

The role of natural disturbances in shaping ecosystems is now broadly recognised in ecology (Muscolo et al., 2014). When researching the stand structure, tree species composition and distribution of natural forests, disturbance regimes play a crucial role in determining which trees will appear in the forest canopy (Feldmann et al., 2018). The need to conserve forest biodiversity and increase ecosystem services offered by forests has consequently increased the need for management to understand and mimic natural disturbance regimes (Thom & Seidl, 2015). Natural disturbances in temperate forests occur in the form of infrequent large-scale disturbances including wind, snow and ice and more frequent fine-scale gap dynamics which arises from the death of individual or groups of trees establishing small gaps in the canopy (Standovár & Kenderes, 2003; Aszalós et al., 2022). Both small-scale and large-scale disturbances create forest openings that improve reproduction and regeneration (Muscolo et al., 2014). Researchers in the recent past have discussed natural disturbances with inconclusive thoughts on their impacts on ecosystem management (Thom & Seidl, 2015).

Besides natural disturbances, using forests for timber production has also influenced the structure and composition of many European forests (Sommerfeld et al., 2018). Natural disturbance regimes changed significantly between 1986 and 2016; however, the disturbance size varied across countries (Senf & Seidl, 2021). In their research, Kulakowski et al. (2017) found that countries with small-scale forest management practices showed smaller disturbance size and intensity even though they experienced large-scale disturbances. Because of the complex link between natural disturbance regimes and anthropogenic disturbances, characterising the disturbance in Europe calls for a holistic approach combining natural and anthropogenic regimes (Senf & Seidl, 2021). Europe needs more quantitative information on disturbance regimes, including human and natural disturbances (Senf & Seidl, 2021). Even though some previous studies describe the disturbance regimes over time, they focus on natural disturbances and ignore anthropogenic ones (Senf et al., 2018; Nagel et al., 2017; Aszalós et al., 2022).

2.2 Canopy gaps in forests

Gaps can be created by natural and anthropogenic disturbances that interfere with the dynamics of species populations (Naaf & Wulf, 2007). Canopy gaps resulting from natural or human causes are a crucial part of the development of forest ecosystems (Holík et al., 2018).

2.2.1 Gap microclimate

Over the past two decades, due to increasing anthropogenic climate change and its impact on ecosystems, environmental scientists and other researchers are interested in microclimate trying to incorporate the results into climate-dependent models (Bramer et al., 2018; Kovács et al., 2020). Forest management practices that cause clearing some parts of the forest result in new microclimate conditions that differ from others (Chen & Franklin, 1997). Fine-scaled gaps create a heterogeneous abiotic environment at stand level.

In gaps, there is increased solar radiation (Denslow, 1987; Abd Latif & Blackburn, 2010), and the light intensity depends strongly on the size of the gaps, with larger gaps receiving higher amounts of radiation (Brown, 1993; Horváth et al., 2023). Increasing solar radiation within the gaps increases air temperature, which heats the soil (Malcolm et al., 2001; Abd Latif & Blackburn, 2010). Furthermore, creating gaps also decreases relative humidity (Abd Latif & Blackburn, 2010; Kovács et al., 2020). The impact of gap openings on soil moisture content was observed in temperate forests by Malcolm et al. (2001), Gálhidy et al. (2006) and Kovács et al. (2020), indicating that soil moisture content was higher in the gaps than in the surrounding areas. The increase could have been because of reduced transpiration in the gaps and increased rainfall penetrating directly into the soil without interception by the forest canopy (Zhu et al., 2014). Nevertheless, the magnitude of the changes in these abiotic factors is dependent on such gap characteristics as gap size and gap shape and are much less drastic than changes in larger cutting areas (Muscolo et al., 2014; Horváth et al., 2023). Microclimatic conditions in the gaps also lead to changes in soil chemical composition due to the effect of the change in soil microbial biomass (Denslow, 1987).

2.2.2 Biodiversity in gaps

Combining different gap shapes and sizes creates a conducive environment for many plant species that thrive under different environmental conditions (Hubbell, 1999). Creating gaps in formerly closed stands of forests increases soil water content that may enhance seed germination for understory species (Canham et al., 1990). The increased light enhances photosynthetic activity, increasing plant biomass (Kuijper et al., 2009; Tinya et al., 2020; Han et al., 2020). Besides, gaps also influence the plant species composition, as they create a new environment for herbs and woody plants to start new regeneration by removing well-established competing species (Yamamoto, 1999; Tinya et al., 2020). De Groot et al. (2016) also discovered that selective logging increased the abundance of graminoids and herb species in southwestern Slovenia. Research by Whitmore (1989) suggests that in larger gaps, light-demanding species can develop better under conditions that do not favour the growth of climax saplings of the dominant forest trees.

Some studies have proved that small gaps improve microbial diversity (Yang et al., 2017; Wang et al., 2021). Research by Boros et al. (2019) revealed that enchytraeid worm communities are better preserved in gaps than in larger cutting areas due to the buffered conditions. Additionally, a study by Šebek et al. (2015) revealed that opening up forests led to distinct communities and increased species number of butterflies, vascular plants, saproxylic and floricolous beetles within the gaps.

2.2.3 Regeneration in gaps

Gaps are key contributors to determining temperate forests' regeneration (Sapkota et al., 2009). Microclimate conditions have various effects on the regeneration: For beech and other shade-tolerant species, it is favourable (Kenderes et al., 2008; Hobi et al., 2015; Feldmann et al., 2018); nevertheless, in oaks, it is more complex. Various studies indicate that gap sizes are key to regeneration success (Holladay et al., 2006; Webster & Lorimer, 2005). Furthermore, the gap dynamic theory implies that the gap size influences solar radiation, consequently affecting the composition and growth of the regenerating species (Dietze & Clark, 2008). Nevertheless, researchers have varying views about the relationship between gap size and regeneration (Arévalo & Fernández, 2007; Fajardo & de Graaf, 2004).

2.3 Characteristics of oak species

2.3.1 Importance and ecology of oaks

Oak species have great relevance in European forests, both from an ecological and economic point of view (Kuehne et al., 2020). The two major oak species are pedunculate oak (*Quercus robur*) and sessile oak (*Quercus petraea*), which have wider ecological extents that are suitable for their growth (Annighöfer et al., 2015). Oaks have large acorns, hence in the first years, they can grow in the shade due to the nutrient reserves of the acorns, but later they

are light-demanding (Von Lüpke, 1998; Kohler et al., 2020). To this end, their regeneration depends on their habitats' openness through natural or anthropogenic interventions (Bobiec et al., 2018).

Researching pristine forests helps understand natural forests' dynamics (Schütz et al., 2016). However, there are very few natural forest reserves in Europe, making up about 3% of Europe's total forest area (FAO, 2020). Pristine oak forests are especially rare. Thus, there are considerable knowledge gaps regarding the natural dynamics of oak species. What is experienced is that on sites where shade-tolerant admixing species such as European beech thrive well, oaks compete for survival. Nevertheless, oaks compete naturally and establish their ecological niche in areas with extreme conditions (Bauhus et al., 2017). Studies on the climate change impact on the area of sessile oak forests predict a slight decline, but the decline is lesser than for beech (Illés & Móricz, 2022).

2.3.2 Oak regeneration and its problems

Regeneration of oaks in Europe and North America has been problematic recently, and the species has yet to regenerate well naturally (Shaw, 1968). Oak-dominated forests in many parts of the world are declining due to poor regeneration (Dey et al., 2019), a disheartening phenomenon given their ecological and economic importance. Acorn production in oaks varies between years, with individual trees producing acorns synchronously (Koenig et al., 2013). In mast-seeding years, there is a production of a high density of acorns, while in non-masting years, the number of acorns is low. The variation has been explained previously by Sork et al. (1993) and Koenig et al. (1994b), who state that the differences in acorn production not only depend on the optimal abiotic factors for reproduction but also on evolutionary strategies aimed at switching tree resources between producing acorns and performing other functions in different years. Even in masting years, most of the acorns fail to germinate (Ovington & Macrae, 1960), which can be attributed to factors such as infestation by insects (weevil *Curculio glandium*) pre- and post-dispersal (Bąk et al., 2017) and pathogenic fungi and summer drought (Bobiec et al., 2018).

There is conflicting information on the regeneration capacity of oaks in competitive environments (Kelly, 2002). Oak regeneration faces a major challenge from competing with other woody species and herbaceous vegetation (Mölder et al., 2019). In conditions of low light, less light-demanding species can eventually outcompete the oaks (Ligot et al., 2013). In unmanaged oak forests in Europe and North America, shade-tolerant species have been observed to regenerate and survive, unlike oaks (Van Couwenberghe et al., 2013; Stimm et al., 2021). For instance, beech dominated the regeneration in the Carpathian Mountains instead of sessile oak (Petritan et al., 2013).

Various researchers have come up with possible reasons for the failure of oak regeneration. Vera (2000) states that the decline is due to the lack of large herbivores that maintained open woodlands favourable for oak regeneration in historical times. Bobiec et al. (2018) and Saniga et al. (2014) explain the weak oak regeneration with changes in land use. Other researchers have attributed the regeneration failure to the seedbed characteristic, such as litter availability (Kuiters & Slim, 2003; Perea et al., 2013). In North America, most oak-dominated forests exist partially due to past forest fires; therefore, this relationship led to the suggestion that oaks survive better than other tree species where there are periodic fires (Nowacki & Abram, 2008; McEwan et., 2011; Johnson et al., 2019).

Besides, a disturbing trend in Europe is that oaks are becoming the most preferred forage by ungulates in temperate forests (Petersson et al., 2019). Additionally, in denser ecosystems that lack shrubs for ungulates to browse on, oaks are occasionally browsed by ungulates dwindling the regeneration further (Bobiec et al., 2018; Dobrowolska, 2020).

2.3.3 Regeneration success of oaks in gaps

There have been reports of regeneration successes of sessile oaks in gaps in various countries. Research by Diaci et al. (2008) in Slovenia revealed that pedunculate oaks could regenerate in small gaps of 0.03-0.05 hectares. In his research, Von Lüpke (1998) concluded that sessile oak regeneration can happen in small gaps with diameters of at least 17-20 metres; however, in these gaps, the oaks need to be protected from browsing animals. It was noted that hornbeam is a better admixing species in the regeneration as compared to beech as it does not grow into the crowns of oaks as it matures, and it also provides ground litter; nevertheless, it has a higher nutrient demand (Von Lüpke, 1998). Kohler et al. (2020) found that the regeneration success of sessile oak depends on the sapling number at the start of the regeneration and the silvicultural treatments applied to the regeneration success (Kohler et al., 2020). A study by Modrow et al. in 2020 revealed that the regeneration of oaks is successful under light conditions of around half of the light in open fields. Furthermore, their research concluded that sessile oak saplings could thrive in fenced forest gaps.

2.4 Forest management practices in Europe

2.4.1 Rotation forestry management

The European forests cover is roughly 227 million hectares accounting for 35% of the continental land area (Forest Europe, 2020). Most of these forests are 20 to 80 years old evenaged stands, with only a quarter of the forests considered uneven-aged (Mason et al., 2022). Most European countries are implementing forest management practices closer to nature to some extent (Forest Europe, 2020). Nevertheless, the even-aged structure of most forests indicates that the common practice was and still is rotation forestry management (RFM) (Aszalós et al., 2022; Mason et al., 2022). In rotational forestry, trees are removed from a stand, resulting in age-aged regeneration and homogeneous stands (Matthews, 1989). Conventional management practices mainly focus on producing timber and other ecosystem services of forests as a by-product (Biber et al., 2015). The exploitation of forests for timber harvesting has faced much criticism as the use of RFM deteriorates the ecosystem service provision capabilities of forests (Puettmann et al., 2015).

2.4.2 Shifting from rotation forestry management

Alternative forest management practices focus on having more diverse forests in species composition, forest structure, and stand ages (Puettmann et al., 2015). European countries have been implementing alternative methods to RFM for the past 100 years (Schütz et al., 2012). Because forests are of major economic importance in Europe, studies have been conducted on the effectiveness of the various forest management practices for economic and ecological services (Mason et al., 2022). Temperate oak stands in Central Europe were greatly influenced and managed using centuries-old management practices (Kirby & Watkins, 2015). These management practices, such as pannage (releasing pigs in a forest to feed on the seeds and vegetation), wooded pastures, and coppicing (cutting down trees to allow shoots to sprout from the trunk), promoted the growth of oaks and, in most areas, led to decreasing numbers of European beech (Bobiec et al., 2018). Among the alternatives is continuous cover forestry (CCF), implemented using more nature-based silviculture practices (Brang et al., 2014).

2.4.3 Continuous cover forestry

Continuous cover forestry (CCF) aims to regenerate forests where natural conditions are favourable for the dominant species (Kuehne et al., 2020) and is mainly characterised by harvesting specific individual trees or a group of trees. The created small canopy openings cause minimal interference with the continuous cover of the forest (Pommerening & Murphy, 2004; Gustafsson et al., 2020; Kuehne et al., 2020; Mason et al., 2022). It is the main forestry

management model in some European countries, for example in Germany and Slovenia, and some countries use the system in combination with other management practices (Gustafsson et al., 2020). The spatial scale of the CCF intervention is much smaller than that of rotational forestry; however, the time between interventions at the same stand is more frequent (5-8 years). Many countries in Central Europe aim at using CCF to convert even-aged pure forest stands to uneven-aged stands of mixed species (Bürgi & Schuler, 2003). Due to the different timing of harvesting individual trees or groups of trees, CCF results in uneven-aged stands (Schütz et al., 2012). Additionally, CCF results in a more heterogeneous stand structure and diverse tree species because admixing species or habitat trees, such as veteran trees and dead or living microhabitat-bearing trees, can be better preserved with small-scale interventions. In sessile oak–hornbeam forests, foresters use various procedures under continuous cover forestry without a commonly accepted method (Tinya et al., 2020). In continuous cover forestry, it is challenging to regenerate the light-demanding oak species within gaps; however, there is evidence that even oaks can be regenerated by gap-cuttings (Von Lüpke, 1998; Diaci et al., 2008; Kuehne et al., 2020; Tinya et al., 2020).

3. Materials and methods

3.1 Study area

This study was conducted in the Pilis mountains in the Transdanubian range of Hungary (47°40'N, 18°54'E, Figure 1). The study site is located in the northern region of Hungary and is under the management of Pilis Park Forestry Ltd. The area experiences an average annual temperature of between 9.0 and 9.5 °C with 630mm average annual precipitation (Dövényi, 2010). The study site is located near the Pilisszántó village, on the north-facing slopes of Hosszú-hill, at 370–450m above sea level, with a slope gradient of 7.0°–10.6°. It lies on limestone and sandstone bedrock (Dövényi, 2010). The soil mainly comprises acidic luvisol and rendzic leptosol with a pH between 4.2 and 5.3 (Kovács et al., 2020). Due to the management through the shelterwood forestry system, the forest is even-aged (90 years) with low tree species numbers and an even structure. The forest is dominated by sessile oak in the upper canopy and hornbeam is the second layer. Other species appearing in a significant number include Turkey oak (Quercus cerris), wild cherry (Prunus avium), and European beech. The study site contains some areas that are dominated by rock outcrops. The area has a scarce shrub layer, and the herbaceous understory mainly consists of hairy sedge (*Carex pilosa*) and wood melick ((Melica uniflora). The 9-ha site used for this study was fenced to minimise herbivory by ungulates.

3.2 Experimental design

At the beginning of the experiment, in 2018, the pre-treatment conditions of the site were assessed. In February 2019, some trees were felled to create the gaps. Five treatments were applied following a randomised complete block design and replicated across six blocks, resulting in 30 sampling plots (Figure 1). The blocks are numbered 1 to 6. The five treatments are as follows:

- a) Control (CO): consisting of mature closed stands free from intervention.
- b) Large circular gap (LC): A circular gap 20 m in diameter. The area is approximately 300 m².
- c) Large elongated gap (LE): A rectangular gap with 30 m \times 10 m length and width dimensions, oriented north-south, with an area of approximately 300 m².
- d) Small circular gap (SC): A gap of 14 m in diameter with an area of approximately 150 m².

e) Small elongated gap (SE): A rectangular gap with 21 m \times 7 m length and width dimensions, oriented north-south, with an area of approximately 150 m².



Figure 1. Location of the study area. (A) the study area location in Hungary, (B) the study site in the Pilis Mountains; (C) the experiment site consisting of six blocks with the five treatments.

3.3 Data collection

All procedures for data collection and data records before 2022 were retrieved from the raw data records of the Pilis Gap Experiment. The 2018 data was used as the pre-treatment data, while the 2022 data was the after-treatment data where the respective data was used. For the acorn counting, 2020 was used to study the after-treatment effect. The individual growth rate monitoring started in 2020 when the individual saplings were selected and marked. The survival rate used 2019 as the starting year because it followed the 2018 acorn mast year. This thesis's author contributed to the collection of the light, understory cover, oak survival, abundance and height measurement data for 2022. Other participants of the Pilis Gap experiment collected the soil water content and acorn data.

3.3.1 Light estimation

In 2018, light estimations were conducted using LAI-2000 Plant Canopy Analyser (LI-COR Inc., Lincoln, USA), at the northern part of the plots (above the individually marked saplings where the intensively growing understory and shrubs were removed), at 1.3 meters height from the soil surface. For light estimation in 2022, hemispherical photographs were

captured at the same points using WinSCANOPY System (Regent Instruments Inc., Québec, Canada) with a KODAK PIXPRO SP360 camera. All photographs were taken in June of 2022, between 4 pm and 7 pm, when the light intensity was lower, to reduce reflection. At each point, two photographs were taken, one with an exposure value (EV) of -0.3 and the other of -0.7. The one with better quality was used to analyse the two images acquired.

3.3.2 Measurement of soil water content

In 2018, the soil moisture content was measured using FieldScout TDR 350 probe equipped with 7.5 cm steel rods (Spectrum Technologies Inc, Aurola, Illinois, USA). Measurements were conducted once in the top 7.5cm of the soil, at the centre of each plot in each month for June and August. In 2022, TMS-4 loggers (TOMST s.r.o., Praha, CZ) with 15-minute logging intervals were used. The equipment conducted continuous soil moisture measurements daily in 8 to 14 cm of the upper soil layer, at the centre of each gap between May and September 2022.

3.3.3 Sampling of the understory herbs and natural regeneration

This study used the abundance of understory herbs as independent environmental variables for the sessile oak regeneration. In each of the 30 plots, one quadrat of $2 \text{ m} \times 2 \text{ m}$ was established where the understory vegetation was sampled. The quadrats were located at the centre of the plots. The understory was surveyed twice in both 2018 and 2022 (April and June). Only a few spring herbs were documented in April, whose leaves retracted for summer. All the herbaceous plant species and the saplings of woody species below 50 cm in height in the quadrats were identified. The identification key for vascular plants by Király (2009) was used to identify vegetation in the field. Then the percentage vegetation cover in the quadrats was estimated for each species separately. with the maximum possible percentage being 100% if the investigated element covered the quadrat completely. However, the total cover in a quadrat could be greater than 100% due to multiple overlapping layers of the understory vegetation. The next step involved the estimation of the abundance of woody vegetation in the quadrats. The saplings were divided into four height categories as follows:

- a) 0-20 cm
- b) 20-50 cm
- c) 50-130 cm
- d) >130 cm

The number of individuals in each woody species was counted for each size category. The most abundant woody species were used for analysis.

3.3.4 Acorn counting

Fallen sessile oak acorns were counted in 2018 (before the treatments) and 2020 (2nd year after the treatments). Both years were masting years, with a huge number of seeds. Acorns were counted in the plot centres; quadrat size was 1 m × 1 m in 2018, while in 2020, counting was done in 0.5 m × 0.5 m quadrats, and values were extrapolated for $1m^2$.

3.3.5 Oak survival study

In each of the 30 plots, four 50 cm \times 50 cm quadrats were placed in the northern part of the plot. The number of oak saplings present for each height category was recorded here. Counting was carried out since 2019, yearly in early autumn. When the competing vegetation (saplings of other woody species and *Rubus fruticosus agg.*) became dense it was eliminated from the quadrats to allow investigation of the direct effect of abiotic conditions on survival. Newly established saplings (not present in 2019) were eliminated every year to follow up on the mortality of the originally counted seedling group.

3.3.6 Height measurement of individual sessile oak saplings

In each plot, 30 sessile oak saplings (900 individuals) were selected from the regeneration used in the individual height increment measurements. Saplings were even-aged (presumably from acorns falling in the masting year 2018). They were chosen and marked in the autumn of 2020, out of the survivors after the first-year intensive mortality. The saplings were located in the northern part of the gaps which receives the most direct light. Where possible, the marked saplings were between 10 and 20 cm in height at the start of the survey and were at least 40 cm apart. Saplings were marked with tags containing an identification number for each individual. The height of the oak saplings has been measured between August and October every year since 2020.

3.4 Data analysis

3.4.1 Light calculation from hemispherical photographs

The device used for the pre-treatment measurement only recorded relative diffuse light (DIFN, diffuse non-interceptance), which in practice is similar to the indirect site factor (ISF) estimated by the hemispherical photography (Appendix 3). However, the measurement method was different, resulting in different values. Simultaneous measurements were conducted with the LAI-2000 Plant Canopy Analyzer and the hemispherical photography system in 2020, and

based on these data, a correction function was calculated and applied to the 2018 data to make the data compatible.

The photographs taken in 2022 were analysed using WinSCANOPY 2019 software. Relative light was calculated for the growing season. The timeframe between 01st May and 30th September represented that. The software automatically analysed the photographs by classifying each image's pixels as either sky or vegetation based on brightness (called thresholding). However, in some images, where the leaves are too bright, they could be mistaken for the sky, or when the sky is too dark, it could be mistaken for leaves. In such cases, the photo was edited manually for proper classification. For each image, the software calculated the light variables: the direct site factor (DSF), indirect site factor (ISF), total site factor (TSF), and canopy openness. Openness was calculated as the whole part of the sky where the leaves did not obstruct the sky. The direct site factor is the proportion of direct radiation below the canopy to the direct radiation above the canopy. The indirect site factor (ISF) is the proportion of diffuse light below to the diffuse light above the canopy (in percentage). The total site factor (TSF) is the proportion of the total diffuse and direct light above the canopy to the total diffuse and direct light below the canopy. Foreign objects (non-vegetation) captured in the photographs were masked before analysis. For statistical analysis, diffuse and direct light was used for 2022, and diffuse light for 2018.

3.4.2 Soil moisture calculation

The soil water content (SWC) was expressed as the soil moisture percentage in sampling points. For 2018, two data (June and August) were used. The monthly averages were calculated from the measurements taken for each month. In 2022, the calculations were done for five months (May, June, July, August and September). The mean monthly values were calculated from the daily averages for each plot, giving a total of 150 data points (5 treatments × 6 blocks × 5 months).

3.4.3 Herb cover calculation and perennial forb cover calculation

The total herb cover for all the plots was calculated by adding values of the cover for all herb species for each plot. This calculation resulted in 30 data points (5 treatments \times 6 blocks). Since the herb cover combined the less competitive graminoid and annual forb species and the more competitive perennial forbs, the perennial forb cover was also calculated separately using the procedure detailed above.

3.4.4 Survival rate calculation

The survival rate was calculated by comparing the number of sessile oak saplings in each plot in 2022 with those in the same plot in 2019 (number of oaks in 2019/number of oaks in 2022, multiplied by 100).

3.4.5 Growth rate calculation for oak saplings

The growth rate was obtained by calculating the height increment between 2020 and 2022 for those individually marked saplings alive in 2022.

3.4.6 Abundance of the natural regeneration

From the naturally growing woody species, three (*Quercus petraea, Carpinus betulus* and *Cornus sanguinea*) were selected whose values were sufficient for analysis. The abundance change between 2018 and 2022 was used as a dependent variable in the models for each species and size category separately.

3.4.7 Statistical analysis and visualisation

The data analysis used R version 4.2.2 (R Core Team, 2022). The effects of the treatments on the various environmental and regeneration variables were studied using general and generalised linear mixed-effect models. The data distribution was checked statistically using the Kolmogorov-Smirnov Normality Tests. Where the dependent variable did not follow a normal distribution, logarithmic or square root transformations were performed to approximate normal distribution (St-Pierre et al., 2018). For the variables that followed (at least in a transformed form), a normal distribution, linear mixed effect model was used (herb cover, perennial forbs cover, survival rate, acorn supply, light, and soil water content). Generalised linear mixed effect models were used for the variables with Poisson distribution (sapling growth, sapling abundance). In the analysis, "treatment" was the fixed factor with five levels, and "block" was the random factor. However, in the soil water content analysis, where "month" could also influence the moisture content, it was also set as an additional random factor. The linear mixed effect models were constructed using the "nlme" package (Pinheiro, 2017), while the generalised linear mixed effect models used the "lme4" package (Bates et al., 2015). The treatment effect was tested using the "Anova" function in the "car" package (Fox & Weisberg, 2019). Where treatments were significant, multiple comparisons were carried out using user defined contrasts with the "glht" function in the "multcomp" package (Hothorn et al., 2016). The models' goodness of fit was investigated using the "r.squaredGLMM" function (Bartoń, 2022). The models' residuals were checked for normality using (quantile-quantile plots). The variance homogeneity was checked using residuals and standardised residuals plots against fitted values plots. The study used an alpha level of 0.05 for all the statistical tests.

4. Results

4.1 Effect of the different sized and shaped gaps on environmental variables (light, soil moisture, herbaceous understory vegetation)

4.1.1 Light

Before the treatments, the relative diffuse light in the closed stand was $20.52\% \pm 1.18\%$. In 2022, the canopy openness of the closed stand was $10.37\% \pm 1.29\%$. The direct site factor (DSF) was $10.66\% \pm 1.05\%$ and was almost equal to the total site factor (TSF) with $11.33\% \pm 1.00\%$. The Indirect Site Factor (ISF, diffuse light) was $15.83\% \pm 2.43\%$.

Before the interventions, diffuse light did not differ significantly in the northern part of the treated plots and control (Figure 2a). Four years following the interventions, the treatments showed significant effects on both the indirect and direct light (ISF: $\text{Chi}^2 = 31.57$, p < 2.342e-06, $\text{R}^2\text{C} = 0.5212$ and DSF: $\text{Chi}^2 = 134.29$, p <2.2e-06, $\text{R}^2\text{C} = 0.8224$). The indirect light increased in 87.5% of the gaps between 0.5% and 21%. The large circular gap received 31.60% \pm 2.99%, and the large elongated gap received 30.93% \pm 0.75% (Figure 2b). The smaller gaps received 25.91% \pm 1.90% and 22.65% \pm 2.52% for small elongated and small circular, respectively. A similar trend occurred for the direct light (Figure 2c): the large gaps received 47.22% \pm 3.38% in the large circular and 37.19% \pm 1.88% in the large elongated: 28.72% \pm 2.81%).

According to these results, light measurements on places where the understory was restricted (above the measured saplings, in the northern part of the plots) indicated that the highest amount of light was recorded in the large gaps. Within the same size gaps, the shape did not influence the amount of light in the small gaps (SC=SE). However, when the light was measured where the understory, shrubs and regeneration were growing freely (at the centre) then the trend was different. In several plots, the understory grew over the height of the light measurement, and thus, the direct light decreased in all the gaps such that it did not significantly differ from the closed stand.



Figure 2. Treatment effects on light. (a) pre-treatment Indirect Site Factor (ISF); (b) effect of the treatments on ISF; (c) effect of the treatments on Direct Site Factor (DSF) in 2022, respectively. In these boxplots, grey boxes show the interquartile range, the black dot shows the mean, and the thick black lines represent the median. The whiskers represent the range without outliers. The treatment types are CO = Control, LC = Large Circular, LE = Large Elongated, SC = Small Circular and SE = Small Elongated. Lowercase letters above whiskers indicate significance testing in pairwise comparisons (ANOVA- test alpha level 0.05). The y-axis scales for the three diagrams are different.

4.1.2 Soil moisture

The monthly values of soil water content in 2018 (Table 1) were lower in June and August of 2018 compared to the same months in 2022 (Table 2). For instance, in August, all treatments recorded soil moisture content of more than 7% in all treatments in 2022 than in 2018.

SWC (%) 2018	June	August	Treatment Average
СО	10.37	4.66	7.51
LC	9.26	4.28	6.77
LE	9.36	4.15	6.75
SC	9.54	5.07	7.3
SE	9.1	4.61	6.85
Monthly mean	9.53	4.55	
Standard deviation	0.44	0.32	

Table 1. Soil water content in the 2018 vegetation season

SWC (%) 2022	May	June	July	August	September	Treatment Average
СО	27.79	17.86	11.44	12.44	15.46	16.99
LC	33.76	29.12	15.72	14.59	19.12	22.44
LE	32.26	27.39	12.39	12.81	17.40	20.42
SC	28.46	23.88	13.74	13.80	16.47	19.26
SE	35.36	26.75	14.99	15.20	18.13	22.08
Monthly mean	31.52	24.99	13.77	13.77	17.31	
Standard deviation	2.95	3.94	1.61	1.04	1.27	

Table 2. Soil water content in the 2022 vegetation season

In 2018, the soil water content did not differ between the "treatments" (Chi² = 1.9418, p = 0.7465, $R^2C = 0.8794$) (Figure 3a). Four years after the interventions, the SWC in the control and the gaps varied slightly, with significantly higher values in the large circular gaps than in the control (Figure 3b). The results of the model revealed that the treatments significantly affected the soil water content in the year 2022 (Chi² = 9.7837, p = 0.0442, $R^2C = 0.5484$).



Figure 3. Treatment effects on soil water content in 2018 (a) and 2022 (b). For legends, see Figure 2.

4.1.3 Understory vegetation

In this study, 55 species were recorded in the understory layer (Appendix 1). The species included saplings of woody species, perennial and annual forbs and graminoids. The most frequent species were *Quercus petraea* (the woody species which is the main subject of

the study) and *Melica uniflora*, a graminoid (grass) appearing in all the studied plots. *Carex pilosa*, a graminoid (sedge) species, was the third most frequent. The most frequent perennial forbs were *Galium schultesii*, *Stellaria holostea*, *Rubus fruticosus agg.*, *Melittis melissophyllum* and *Viola reichenbachiana*. *Carpinus betulus*, a woody species which forms the secondary canopy layer in the mature forest of the study area, was also present in the top ten frequent species (Figure 4). *Rubus fruticosus agg.*, was present in 60% of the plots; nevertheless, it had a total cover of 22.26%. Of the ten most abundant species, five of them were perennial forbs (Figure 5). The perennial forb cover increased by approximately 56% between 2018 and 2022.



Figure 4. Most frequent species in the 30 understory quadrats of $2m \times 2m$ in 2022.



Figure 5. Mean relative cover of the most abundant species in the 30 understory quadrats of $2m \times 2m$ in 2022.

There was no difference in the herb cover in the "treatments" in 2018 (Chi² = 4.2118, p = 0.3781, $R^2C = 0.3512$) (Figure 6a). The models also revealed the treatments' significant on the herb cover in 2022 (Chi² = 20.162, p = 0.0046, $R^2C = 0.4163$) (Figure 6b). It was highest in the elongated gaps, moderate in the circular gaps and lowest in the closed stand (Figure 6b).

There was no difference for perennial forb cover in the "treatments" in 2018 (Chi² = 5.5966, p = 0.2314, R²C = 0.3209) (Figure 6c). The models show that the treatments affected the perennial forb cover (Chi² = 23.988, p =8.034e-05, R²C = 0.5929) (Figure 6d). The perennial forb cover was highest in the larger gaps, moderate in the smaller gaps and lowest in the closed stand (Figure 6d).



Figure 6. Treatment effects on vegetation cover in 2018 and 2022. For herbs (a, b) and for perennial forbs (c, d). For legends, see Figure 2.

4.2 Acorn supply in the different gap types

The sessile oak acorn supply varied from 68 to 608 acorns/m² in the pre-treatment mast year (2018) and 0 to 580 acorns/m² in the mast year after treatment (2020). Though weak, there was a variation in the acorn supply in "treatments" before the interventions (Chi² = 16.193, p = 0.0027, R²C = 0.4971), as shown in Figure 8a. However, the effects intensified after the interventions, where almost all treatments significantly differed from each other apart from the large gaps (Chi² = 2096.9, p < 2.2e-16, R²C = 0.9969) (Figure 8b). Before the interventions, acorns accumulated in higher densities in the control and small circular plots 462.67 ± 40.64 pieces/m² and 449.33 ± 98.32 pieces/m². The acorns accumulated moderately in the large circular and elongated and small elongated gaps.

After the intervention, the number of acorns in the closed stand remained high (326.00 \pm 83.35 pieces/m²) while it decreased substantially in the gaps, especially the larger ones: the large elongated and circular gaps received 1.33 \pm 0.84pieces/m² and 3.33 \pm 1.90 pieces/m², respectively. The small circular gaps also received a few acorns (8 \pm 4.13 pieces/m²). Among the gaps, only the small elongated ones received a relatively high number of acorns after gap creation (70 \pm 36.67 pieces/m²) (Figure 8b).



Figure 7. Treatment effect on the acorn supply in 2018 (a) and 2020 (b). For legends, see Figure 2.

4.3 Seedling survival of sessile oak and the growth rate of individual oak saplings under different gap-cuttings

4.3.1 Seedling survival of sessile oak

In 2019, there were 900 individually marked saplings combined for all treatments, while in 2022, there were 644 saplings. There was an average of 43 ± 0.59 seedlings in the 0.5 m x 0.5 m quadrats for 2019. For 2022, the saplings number decreased; the average was 13 ± 0.27 saplings per quadrat. The survival rate was generally low for all the treatments, with only 16.67% of quadrats recording a survival rate of more than 50%. The models' results revealed that the treatments did not affect the three-year survival rate (Chi² = 4.9617, p = 0.2912, R²C = 0.3377), but some trends are observable (Figure 8a). The highest mortality was found in the closed stand, where the survival rate was 17.45% \pm 5.59%. Survival was also low in the large circular gap (24.28% \pm 4.24%). The survival rate in the small circular, small, and large elongated gaps was almost similar, with averages of 31.12% \pm 7.17%, 32.04 \pm 8.93 and 32.47 \pm 9.19, respectively.



Figure 8. Treatment effect on *Quercus petraea* survival rate (a) and growth (b). For legends, see Figure 2.

4.3.2 Individual growth rate of sessile oak saplings

The models revealed that the treatments affected the growth of the sessile oak saplings significantly, even during two years (Chi² = 292.62, p < 2.2e-16, R²C = 0.4629) (Figure 8b). In the surviving individually marked *Quercus petraea* saplings, 98.87% had a height increase of 1-32cm in all the gaps. The highest growth was recorded in the large circular and elongated

gaps with an average of $11.78 \text{cm} \pm 2.29 \text{cm}$ and $10.59 \text{cm} \pm 2.35 \text{cm}$, respectively, while the least growth was recorded in the closed stand ($3.39 \text{cm} \pm 1.18 \text{cm}$). The largest negative differences in growth rate were recorded if the individual sapling had a secondary shoot in the previous year, which later died. The circular gaps showed a better growth rate in the same-sized gaps (growth in the large circular gap was higher than large elongated, and small circular growth was higher than small elongated). However, the shape differences were more pronounced in the small gaps.

4.4 Species richness and abundance of natural regeneration in different gap types

Before the treatments, in 2018, eight woody species were present in the understory vegetation in the plots (Figure 9). The species are *Quercus petraea*, *Carpinus betulus*, common dogwood (*Cornus sanguinea*), wild cherry (*Prunus avium*), field maple (*Acer campestre*), common hawthorn (*Crataegus monogyna*), manna ash (*Fraxinus ornus*) and *Quercus cerris*. In 2022, the species remained the same (Figure 10). The number of woody species in the plots did not change considerably with the interventions: pre-treatment, it varied between 1 and 4; after treatment, the number ranged between 1 and 5. However, the sum of all saplings increased from 780 pre-treatment to 3147 after the treatment. Hence, the total sapling abundance was four times more in 2022 than in the pre-treatment.



Figure 9. Total number of saplings for the most abundant woody species in 30 understory quadrats of $2m \times 2m$ in 2018.



Figure 10. Total number of saplings of the most abundant woody species in 30 understory quadrats of $2m \times 2m$ in 2022.

The three species with the highest abundance (highest number of saplings) in the natural regeneration were *Quercus petra*ea, *Carpinus betulus* and *Cornus sanguinea*; therefore, these species were used for further individual analyses. In 2018, all sessile oak and hornbeam recorded most of their saplings in the shorter size categories I and II (Table 3). In 2022, saplings were also recorded in the larger categories III and IV (Table 4).

Table 3. Number of saplings of the most abundant woody species in each size category in 2018. The treatment types are CO = Control, LC = Large Circular, LE = Large Elongated, SC = Small Circular and SE = Small Elongated. Size I = 0-20cm, Size II = 20-50cm, Size III = 50-130cm and Size IV =>130cm.

2018	Quer	cus pei	traea		Carpinus betulus						Cornus sanguinea				
	Ι	Π	III	IV	sum	Ι	II	III	IV	sum	Ι	II	III	IV	sum
СО	178	5	0	0	183	6	7	2	0	15	2	1	0	0	3
LC	74	6	0	0	80	3	2	0	0	5	0	3	7	0	10
LE	189	10	0	0	199	0	1	0	0	1	0	3	5	0	8
SC	139	4	0	0	143	6	1	4	0	11	0	0	0	0	0
SE	97	7	0	0	104	6	0	2	0	8	0	0	0	0	0

Table 4. Distribution of the most abundant woody species in each size category in 2022. For legends, see table 3

2022	Quer	Quercus petraea Ca						Carpinus betulus				Cornus sanguinea			
	Ι	II	III	IV	sum	Ι	Π	III	IV	sum	Ι	II	III	IV	sum
CO	476	79	1	0	556	8	6	1	2	17	0	2	1	0	3
LC	31	138	67	8	244	5	5	7	7	24	1	4	16	30	51
LE	117	498	107	1	723	17	4	2	1	24	0	2	5	7	14
SC	197	437	66	1	701	6	6	5	8	25	0	0	0	0	0
SE	385	332	10	0	727	12	6	5	2	25	0	0	0	0	0



Figure 11. The abundance change of the most abundant woody species between 2018 and 2022, (a) *Quercus petraea*, (b) *Carpinus betulus*, (c) *Cornus sanguinea*. Size I = 0.20cm, Size II = 20.50cm, Size III = 50-130cm and Size IV >130cm. The three figures have different y-axis scales

The treatments significantly affected the abundance change for *Quercus petraea* in all size categories except size IV (Figure 11a). As there was a masting year in the investigated period (2020), there was a considerable number of new saplings in the size I category for the closed stand and the small elongated gap. The large gaps recorded a decrease in the abundance of sessile oaks in size I (Figure 11a). The amount of size II saplings increased in all treatments but to a significantly different degree; the largest increase was in the large elongated and small circular gap (Figure 11a). For the third size category, the sessile oak sapling abundance increased the most in the large elongated and intermediately in the circular gaps. Very few saplings reached the largest size category (size IV); they were somewhat though not significantly, abundant in the large circular gaps (Figure 12d).



Figure 12. Treatment effects on the abundance change of *Quercus petraea*. The four figures have different y-axis scales. The small letters (a to d) represent the pairwise comparison significance differences (ANOVA-test, alpha level = 0.05).

For *Carpinus betulus*, the result of linear mixed effect models indicates that the treatments had no significant effect on the abundance change for any size category (Figures 13a-d). However, some trends could be observed (Figure 11b): Hornbeam abundance showed a more intensive increment in the gaps than in the control (Figure 11b). Several new saplings were recorded in the first size category in the elongated gaps, but only a few reached larger categories in this gap type. The circular gaps had the highest increase in larger hornbeams (size categories III and IV).



Figure 13. Treatment effects on *Carpinus betulus* abundance change. For legends, see Figure 12.

The treatments had no significant effects on the abundance change for *Cornus* sanguinea, except in the fourth size category ($Chi^2 = 41.405$, p = 2.215e-08, R^2C = 0.6503) (Figures 14a-d). There was no considerable change in abundance for *Cornus sanguinea* in the control, small circular and small-elongated treatments. However, the abundance slightly increased in the large gaps, especially in the large circular, and most individuals reached the largest size category.



Figure 14. Treatment effects on *Cornus sanguinea* abundance change. For legends, see Figure 12.

5. Discussion

This study investigated the short-term effects of the various sized and shaped gaps on the regeneration of sessile oak and other woody species. As hypothesised, the success of oak regeneration was different in the different gap types; both the size and shape of the gaps affect certain regeneration variables. The light and soil moisture content increased after gap creation, increasing the growth and abundance of the sessile oaks and perennial forbs.

The closed stand recorded the lowest abundance of understory herbs and natural regeneration. Furthermore, in these plots, the survival and growth rate for the sessile oak was the lowest. Due to the low herb cover in the closed stand, the regeneration was almost not exposed to competition. However, the low availability of light could explain the sessile oaks' low survival rate in the closed stand despite the huge number of acorns. The observation above is in line with the findings of Von Lüpke (1998) that even in light levels of <10%, survival with slow growth is still possible in the short term between four and six years. Despite having large acorns that allow the start of the regeneration in closed forests, saplings require ample light for growth and survival after the nutrient reserves in the cotyledons are exhausted (Johnson et al., 2019).

5.1. Influence of gap size and shape on the abiotic environment and understory vegetation

5.1.2 Light

Previous research in temperate forests revealed that gap creation influenced the irradiance where light intensity increased with increasing gap size (Gagnon et al., 2004; Gálhidy et al., 2006; Heithecker & Halpern, 2006; Vilhar et al., 2015; Diaci et al., 2020). Our results align with the findings of these studies. The pre- and post-treatment comparisons revealed that solar radiation increased in all gap types. The larger gaps received the most light (47% and 37% direct light in the large circular and elongated gap respectively), similar to the observations of Gray et al. (2002). The differences between the treatments were visible for both diffuse and direct light. Direct light was higher than diffuse light in all treatments, and a greater variation between the treatments was observed in the direct light. The above findings agrees with the observation of Gray et al. (2002) that mainly the direct light determines the light differences in the gaps. These findings can be attributed to the larger gaps being more open.

The gap shape basically did not influence the amount of light. This observation contradicts the finding of Muscolo et al. (2014) that narrower gaps receive lower light than circular gaps. The only exception in our study was the direct light in the large gaps. Studying

the spatial pattern of light in the same gaps in the first year after the interventions, Horváth et al. (2023) found that direct and diffuse light have robust, but different spatial pattern: Direct light has a strong north-south gradient, especially in the circular gaps, being the highest at the northern part. Contrary to this, diffuse light has a concentric pattern, and is the highest in the centre of the gaps. They stated that light is basically determined by gap size and not gap shape, however, the northern part of the large circular gaps receives an extremely high amount of direct light. Our findings align with the discovery that at the northern part of the gaps, diffuse light is independent of gap shape, while direct light is more in large circular gaps compared to the large elongated ones.

Light in the small gaps was significantly lower than in the large gaps, but was still sufficient for developing the saplings. For the height increment of *Quercus petraea* saplings, more than 20% relative light is required (Von Lüpke, 1998; Mölder et al., 2019; Kohler et al., 2020). These previous studies suggest that the direct light in our small (150 m²) gaps was enough for regeneration (around 29% in the small circular and elongated gaps). Additionally, our findings are similar to those of Tobisch (2010), that light and soil moisture in small gaps (15m diameter) is sufficient to support oak saplings' continual but slow development.

5.1.3 Soil moisture

Soil moisture content was homogeneous pre-treatment. The treatment effect for the soil water content was significantly different in all the treatments one year after gap creation (Horváth et al., 2023); however, for the fourth year, the difference almost disappeared (soil moisture was significantly higher only in the large circular gap than in the closed stand). Since the first-year differences in the soil water content between the various gap types could affect the regeneration patterns observed in the fourth year, the first year's results are also discussed as an explanatory variable.

The large circular gap recorded the highest moisture (5.84% more than the closed stand). The longer distance of the surrounding stand could explain the initial high soil moisture content difference. Nevertheless, in 2022, the developed dense vegetation in the gaps took up much water from the soil, reducing the soil water content difference between the large circular and other gaps.

Although the large elongated gap received similar light as the large circular gap, soil water content increment was less intensive in this gap type. Unlike light, soil water content is mainly influenced by the gap shape (Horváth et al., 2023). In the first year after the gaps creation, soil moisture in small circular gaps was higher than in large elongated ones, while in

small elongated gaps, it was significantly lower. For the fourth year, these differences disappeared and the large elongated and the two small gap types recorded almost similar soil moisture content. As mentioned above, it can be explained by the water uptake of the developed vegetation.

5.1.4 Herbaceous understory vegetation

The analysis of the total herb cover revealed that it was not a good explanatory variable for regeneration. Perennial forbs are more competitive species than graminoids and annual forbs, and had considerable abundance in the plots. Hence, the perennial herb cover is used to explain the regeneration trends. The perennial forb cover increased with increasing gap size. Before the gap creation, the mean perennial forb cover in the "treatments" was also relatively high but increased considerably after the treatments (56% total increase).

The optimal light and soil moisture conditions in the large circular gaps promoted the growth of perennial forbs. One of the most competitive and abundant perennials was *Rubus fruticosus agg.*, thriving in this gap type, and thus becoming a competitor for *Quercus petraea*. According to previous studies, *Rubus fruticosus agg*. is a light-flexible clonal plant that can produce an intensive horizontal growth besides optimal abiotic conditions (Gálhidy et al., 2006; Klimešová and de Bello, 2009). Since – in a low abundance – it was widely present in the forest stand before the interventions, after gap creation, it started an intensive vegetative development, especially in the large circular gaps rich in light and soil moisture.

The large elongated gaps had a perennial forb cover almost as high as the large circular gaps. Since these gaps had high light and only slightly lower soil moisture content than large circular gaps, understory vegetation sprouted intensively here. The small circular gaps had the least cover of the understory herbs and perennial forbs; neither the herb nor the perennial forb cover were significantly higher here than in the closed stand. We assume that the considerably lower light conditions than in small circular gaps caused the lower cover.

Competition from herbaceous vegetation is a significant aspect of establishing oaks and is one of the major causes of regeneration failure (Annighöfer et al., 2015). According to our results, in the gaps where the availability of both abiotic resources is high (e.g. in large circular gaps), both herbs and, more so, perennials are abundant. Where the amount of light is high and soil water content is moderate (e.g. in large elongated gaps), the herb and perennial forb cover is only slightly lower. However, the herb cover remains moderate if soil moisture is high and light is considerably lower than in the large circular gaps (e.g., in small circular gaps). Thus, there was intensive competition for the regeneration in the large gaps, and a more moderate one in the smaller gaps.

5.2. Effects of gap size on sessile oak acorn supply

The quality and quantity of seed production is an essential determinant of establishment and survival of plants. In cases where trees are exploited for commercial purposes, producing abundant seeds reduces the restoration costs as it favours natural regeneration (Fischer et al., 2016). Additionally, regenerating forests naturally from the locally fallen seeds is ecologically better: propagules are local; hence they are better adapted to the conditions. Furthermore, using local seeds ensures that no new sub-species of the given tree are introduced. In this study, the difference in the supply of acorns in the gaps was mainly influenced by the distance between the centre of the plots and the surrounding mature sessile oak trees. The above statement explains the low numbers of acorns in the large gaps after the gap creation.

The small circular gaps received the highest number of acorns among the gaps in the pre-treatment year. However, in the masting year after the treatment, the number was quite low compared to the closed stand. The low acorn number is presumed to be due to the distance to the mature *Quercus petraea* trees, which caused few acorns to reach the centre of the gaps. However, the number of acorns was significantly higher here than in the large gaps.

After the large elongated gaps, small elongated gaps received the lowest acorns in the 2018 masting year. Nevertheless, in 2020, this gap type received the highest number of acorns among the gaps. Because the surrounding mature trees are closer to the centre of the gap, the acorn number is significantly higher in this gap type than in the others but lower than in the closed stand. Suppose one wants to use the acorns falling in the gaps for regeneration; this is the best gap type because the heavy *Quercus petraea* acorns can disperse only to such small distances, characteristic of this gap type (Tobisch, 2010).

5.3 Seedling survival and sapling growth rate in different gaps

5.3.2 Survival rate

Though the treatments did not affect the survival rate of *Quercus petraea*, it was somewhat (though not significantly) better in all the gaps compared to the closed stand. Contrary to our expectations, the survival rate of individually marked saplings was not the highest in the large circular gap (where abiotic conditions are the most optimal). This gap type recorded the lowest survival rate among the gaps (24%), proving to be only slightly (7%) better than the closed stand. The low survival rate can be attributed to the high competition from the

understory vegetation. The finding aligns with the results of Denslow et al. (1998) that continued growth of established and emerging herbs and shrubs prevents light from reaching seedlings.

Investigation of the dead saplings during the study showed that most of the dead saplings had no roots. Therefore, it is supposed that small rodents could have eaten some of the saplings' roots. Additionally, self-thinning among the saplings could have reduced their number. Hence, the survival of young saplings is driven by other factors independent of the treatment.

5.3.3 Growth

The height increment of a tree species is a significant aspect in terms of competition for survival, with taller saplings being able to outcompete shorter ones (Stimm et al., 2021). The height growth for the *Quercus petraea* was higher in the gaps than in the closed stand, and each gap differed significantly from one another apart from the large elongated and small circular gaps, which were the same. This finding concurs with the discovery of Sevillano et al. (2016) that light availability affects the growth of oaks but not their survival.

Generally, the height growth of *Quercus petraea* proved to be the best in the large circular gap. Most seedling growth in temperate forests is mainly restricted by the amount of light (Lambers & Clark, 2003). Since large circular gaps received the highest light, and especially the direct light was prominently high at the northern part of these gaps (diffuse light was 32%, direct radiation was 47%), these conditions facilitated the growth of the *Quercus petraea* saplings in this gap type. It concurs with the findings of Diaci et al. (2008) and Ligot et al. (2013) that oak growth is better in conditions of higher direct sunlight. Investigating the height growth of *Quercus petraea* saplings in forestry gaps of the Pilis Mountains, Csépányi et al. (2021) also found that growth is the best at 30-50% direct light, i.e. at similar light conditions to our large gaps. Despite the relatively low survival and abundance of *Quercus petraea* in large circular gaps, saplings that grew above the competing vegetation recorded the highest growth rate, which can be attributed to the optimal direct sunlight.

The growth of the individually measured *Quercus petraea* saplings was similar in large elongated and small circular gaps: it was lower than in the large circular gaps, but still considerably high. In large elongated gaps, diffuse light was similarly high as in the large circular gaps, direct light was slightly lower, but still optimal and the soil moisture was intermediate in the first years (Horváth et al., 2023). In the small circular gaps, soil moisture was optimally high, and light was intermediate, but still acceptable (Horváth et al., 2023).

Accordingly, it seems that light and soil moisture have a complex effect on the height growth of the saplings: if one of these resources is in optimal, and the other in an intermediate amount, the growth response is moderate.

The growth rate in the small elongated gap (where neither the amount of light nor the soil moisture is optimal) was low; hence very few saplings reached a height above 50cm. The low growth rate can be explained by the earlier findings of Von Lüpke (1998) that in the first years, survival is possible with slow growth in low-light conditions

5.4. Variation in species richness and abundance with gap type during natural regeneration

The large circular gap has the best light and soil moisture conditions. However, increasing the light and soil moisture in the understory to improve the survival and growth of desired saplings favours the growth of all other vegetation, including competing species (Balandier et al., 2012). Due to the strong competition from perennial forbs and the saplings of other woody species, *Quercus petraea* could not utilise the advantages of the abiotic conditions of the large circular gaps (high direct radiation, lower precipitation interception by the leaves and reduced root concurrence of the mature stand). Hence, this treatment had a very low abundance of oak individuals.

The abundance increment of *Quercus petraea* was the highest in the large elongated gaps for the second and third size categories. This gap type received very few acorns in both masting years, which explains the decreasing abundance of the size I category of saplings. Nevertheless, these gaps had lower competing vegetation (*Carpinus betulus, Cornus sanguinea*), enabling the abundance of *Quercus petraea*. Additionally, the high survival rate ensured the high abundance despite having few acorns.

In the small circular gaps, the abundance increment of *Quercus petraea* was also quite high for the size II and III categories—a similar amount of *Quercus petraea* saplings reached the third category as in the large circular gap, due to many acorns pre-treatment and the environmental conditions (high soil moisture content and intermediate light). Nevertheless, size III abundance increment in the small circular gap was less than in the large elongated gaps which due to lower light conditions in the smaller gaps. The size II oaks also increased considerably, which was different for the large circular gaps and can be explained by the lower competition pressure compared to the large gaps. However, since the number of newly fallen acorns declined with the gap creation, size I saplings only increased slightly. Also, the saplings growing into size II were replaced by a few new saplings or, in some cases, none. The high

initial abundance of the size I and II saplings could have hindered the establishment of the herbs, perennial forbs and other woody species in this gap, aligning with the findings of Kuehne et al. (2020) that greater oak sapling abundance delays the establishment of other competing vegetation.

The small elongated gaps recorded the highest increment in the number of size I (2022 total abundance is four times more than in 2018) and a considerably high increase in size II (third highest increase after the large elongated and small circular gaps) of *Quercus petraea* saplings. The high number of acorns in both masting years is assumed to cause the high number of size I and II *Quercus petraea* saplings. However, due to the less optimal abiotic conditions in small elongated gaps (low light and soil moisture), very few saplings could reach the third, and almost none the fourth size category. The low abundance in third and fourth size categories is in accordance with the low height increment values of the individually measured saplings in this gap type.

Though the abundance increment was low for the *Carpinus betulus* saplings, the large elongated gaps recorded the highest increase. This can be explained by the relatively high soil moisture content in this gap type. As *Carpinus betulus* is a shade-tolerant species of mesic forests, its development seems to be more driven by soil moisture than light (Tinya et al. 2009). The abundance increment was mainly in the size I saplings indicating that the conditions here favoured new sapling establishment. However, the abundance increment was not significant.

The abundance increment for *Cornus sanguinea* was observable mainly in the large gaps, especially in the large circular gaps. *Cornus sanguinea* is a clonal species developing well on a vegetative way from the roots (Klimešová and de Bello, 2009). Sapkota et al. (2009) found that both seed availability and sprouting capabilities influence the density of the species in gaps. According to our findings, the favourable abiotic conditions of the large circular gaps promoted the intensive development of new shoots.

6. Conclusions and implications for management

This study evaluated the short-term regeneration success of sessile oaks after gap creation. Because of the short duration of the observation (2 to 4 years), we cannot draw conclusions regarding the entire process of forest regeneration. Nevertheless, the initial response is useful because it is a determinant phase for regeneration. Continued data collection is recommended to evaluate the long-term effects of the different gap types. Based on our results, oaks regenerate better in the gaps than in the closed stand. The large circular gaps recorded the highest growth increment indicating that the complex abiotic conditions (light, soil moisture) here were most favourable for growth. Nevertheless, conditions of this gap type also favoured the development of other competing vegetation (perennial forbs, such as *Rubus fruticosus agg.*, and some woody species, such as *Carpinus betulus and Cornus sanguinea*). Therefore, if oaks were to be regenerated here, it would require constant pruning and weeding to remove unwanted species leading the forest managers to incur more costs.

Competitive perennial forbs seem to prefer those places where both the amount of light and the availability of soil moisture are high (i.e. large circular gaps). The growth of *Carpinus betulus* seems to be driven by the soil moisture (growing the best in the circular gaps), while *Cornus sanguinea* is mainly affected by the light (growing the best in the large gaps). Therefore, large elongated and small circular gaps are better sites for oak regeneration: the abiotic conditions are slightly lower than in large circular gaps but still ensure a proper height increment, with lower competition with the herbs and other woody species.

Small elongated gaps are less favourable for oak regeneration since they do not ensure enough light and soil moisture for the intensive growth of the oak saplings. However, this gap type also has several advantages: the acorn supply after the gap creation remains good, contrary to the larger (or the same-sized) circular gaps. The slightly increased light ensures a similar survival for the saplings as the large elongated and small circular gaps, with a lower competition pressure. As oaks are relatively shade-tolerant in their first years and allocate more to the growth of their root system, they can survive and strengthen even in moderate light conditions of small elongated gaps. It is hypothesised that extending the small elongated gaps to large circular gaps after several years will result in an intensive growth of the survived saplings, as these larger, strengthened saplings will better utilise the received extra light and soil moisture than the small saplings of gaps immediately created as large circular. Besides, several-year-old saplings of extended gaps will have some competitive odds against the herbs and other woody species established only after the gap extension. This hypothesis will be tested in the Pilis Gap Experiment in the next years.

To achieve the best regeneration of *Quercus petraea*, a balance between favourable abiotic conditions and competition can be set by choosing the proper gap size, shape and timing of gap creation and extensions, always considering the local forest site conditions and the initial understory species composition.

References

- Abd Latif, Z. & Blackburn, G. A. (2010). The effects of gap size on some microclimate variables during late summer and autumn in a temperate broadleaved deciduous forest. *International Journal of Biometeorology*, 54(2), 119–129. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00484-009-0260-1
- Annighöfer, P., Beckschäfer, P., Vor, T., & Ammer, C. (2015). Regeneration Patterns of European Oak Species (*Quercus petraea* (Matt.) Liebl., Quercus robur L.) in Dependence of Environment and Neighborhood. *PLOS ONE*, 10(8), e0134935. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0134935</u>
- Arévalo, J. R., & Fernández-Palacios, J. M. (2006). Treefall Gaps and Regeneration Composition in the Laurel Forest of Anaga (Tenerife): a Matter of Size? *Plant Ecology*, 188(2), 133–143. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11258-006-9152-1
- Aszalós, R., Thom, D., Aakala, T., Angelstam, P., Brumelis, G., Gálhidy, L., Gratzer, G., Hlasny, T., Katzensteiner, K., Kovács, B., Knoke, T., Larrieu, L., Motta, R., Müller, J., Ódor, P., Rozenbergar, D., Paillet, Y., Pitar, D., Standovár, T., Svoboda, M., Szwagrzyk, J., Toscani, P. & Keeton, W.S. (2022) Natural disturbance regimes as a guide for sustainable forest management in Europe. *Ecological Applications*, 32. https://doi.org/10.1002/eap.2596
- Bąk-Badowska, J., Żeber-Dzikowska, I., & Chmielewski, J. (2017). Evaluation of the degree of healthiness of the pedunculate oak (Quercus robur L.) acorns in the Włoszczowa– Jędrzejów Nature Park and its neighbouring area. *Environmental Protection and Natural Resources*, 28(1), 14-19. <u>https://doi.org/10.1515/oszn-2017-0003</u>
- Balandier, P., Marquier, A., Casella, E., Kiewitt, A., Coll, L., Wehrlen, L., & Harmer, R. (2012). Architecture, cover and light interception by bramble (Rubus fruticosus): a common understorey weed in temperate forests. *Forestry*, 86(1), 39–46. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/forestry/cps066</u>
- Bartoń, K. (2022). *MuMIn: Multi-Model Inference*. R-Packages. <u>https://cran.r-project.org/package=MuMIn</u>
- Bates, D., Mächler, M., Bolker, B., & Walker, S. (2015). Fitting linear mixed-effects models using lme4. *Journal of Statistical Software*, 67(1) 1-48. <u>https://doi.org/10.18637/jss.v067.i01</u>
- Bauhus, J., Forrester, D. I., & Pretzsch, H. (2017). From Observations to Evidence About Effects of Mixed-Species Stands. *Mixed-Species Forests*, 27–71. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-662-54553-9_2
- Biber, P., Borges, J., Moshammer, R., Barreiro, S., Botequim, B., Brodrechtová, Y., Brukas, V., Chirici, G., Cordero-Debets, R., Corrigan, E., Eriksson, L., Favero, M., Galev, E., Garcia-Gonzalo, J., Hengeveld, G., Kavaliauskas, M., Marchetti, M., Marques, S., Mozgeris, G., & Navrátil, R. (2015). How Sensitive Are Ecosystem Services in European Forest Landscapes to Silvicultural Treatment? *Forests*, 6(12), 1666–1695. https://doi.org/10.3390/f6051666
- Bobiec, A., Reif, A., & Öllerer, K. (2018). Seeing the oakscape beyond the forest: a landscape approach to the oak regeneration in Europe. *Landscape Ecology*, *33*(4), 513–528. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10980-018-0619-y
- Boros, G., Kovács, B., & Ódor, P. (2019). Green tree retention enhances negative short-term effects of clear-cutting on enchytraeid assemblages in a temperate forest. *Applied Soil Ecology*, *136*, 106–115. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apsoil.2018.12.018</u>
- Bramer, I., Anderson, B. J., Bennie, J., Bladon, A. J., De Frenne, P., Hemming, D., Hill, R. A., Kearney, M. R., Körner, C., Korstjens, A. H., Lenoir, J., Maclean, I. M. D., Marsh, C. D., Morecroft, M. D., Ohlemüller, R., Slater, H. D., Suggitt, A. J., Zellweger, F., &

Gillingham, P. K. (2018). Advances in Monitoring and Modelling Climate at Ecologically Relevant Scales. *Next Generation Biomonitoring: Part 1*, 101–161. https://doi.org/10.1016/bs.aecr.2017.12.005

- Brang, P., Spathelf, P., Larsen, J. B., Bauhus, J., Bonc ina, A., Chauvin, C., Drossler, L., Garcia-Guemes, C., Heiri, C., Kerr, G., Lexer, M. J., Mason, B., Mohren, F., Muhlethaler, U., Nocentini, S., & Svoboda, M. (2014). Suitability of close-to-nature silviculture for adapting temperate European forests to climate change. *Forestry*, 87(4), 492–503. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/forestry/cpu018</u>
- Březina, I., & Dobrovolný, L. (2011). Natural regeneration of sessile oak under different light conditions. *Journal of Forest Science*, 57(8), 359–368. https://doi.org/10.17221/12/2011-jfs
- Brown, N. (1993). The implications of climate and gap microclimate for seedling growth conditions in a Bornean lowland rain forest. *Journal of Tropical Ecology*, 9(2), 153–168. <u>https://doi.org/10.1017/s0266467400007136</u>
- Bürgi, M., & Schuler, A. (2003). Driving forces of forest management—an analysis of regeneration practices in the forests of the Swiss Central Plateau during the 19th and 20th century. *Forest Ecology and Management*, 176(1-3), 173–183. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/s0378-1127(02)00270-0</u>
- Canham, C. D., Denslow, J. S., Platt, W. J., Runkle, J. R., Spies, T. A., & White, P. S. (1990). Light regimes beneath closed canopies and tree-fall gaps in temperate and tropical forests. *Canadian journal of forest research*, 20(5), 620-631. https://doi.org/10.1139/x90-084
- Chen, J., & Franklin, J. (1997). Growing-season microclimate variability within an old-growth Douglas-fir forest. *Climate Research*, 8, 21–34. <u>https://doi.org/10.3354/cr008021</u>
- Csenge Veronika Horváth, Bence Kovács, Flóra Tinya, Julia Schadeck Locatelli, Csaba Németh, Crecco, L., Gábor Illés, Péter Csépányi, & Péter Ódor. (2023). A matter of size and shape: Microclimatic changes induced by experimental gap openings in a sessile oak–hornbeam forest. *Science of The Total Environment*, 873, 162302. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2023.162302
- Csépányi P., Ódor P., Tinya F. (2021): A kocsánytalan tölgy újulat fejlődése az örökerdő változatos fényviszonyai között [Development of sessile oak saplings among the various light conditions of continuous cover forestry]. In: Tinya F. (ed.): 12. Magyar Ökológus Kongresszus Előadások és poszterek összefoglalói [Hungarian Congress of Ecology Book of Abstracts], p. 151.
- De Groot, M., Eler, K., Flajšman, K., Grebenc, T., Marinšek, A., & Kutnar, L. (2016). Differential short-term response of functional groups to a change in forest management in a temperate forest. *Forest Ecology and Management*, 376, 256–264. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2016.06.025</u>
- Denslow, J. S. (1987). Tropical rainforest gaps and tree species diversity. Annual Review of Ecology and Systematics, 18(1), 431–451. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.es.18.110187.002243
- Denslow, J. S., Ellison, A. M., & Sanford, R. E. (1998). Treefall gap size effects on aboveand below-ground processes in a tropical wet forest. *Journal of Ecology*, 86(4), 597– 609. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-2745.1998.00295.x
- Dey, D. C., Knapp, B. O., Battaglia, M. A., Deal, R. L., Hart, J. L., O'Hara, K. L., Schweitzer, C. J., & Schuler, T. M. (2019). Barriers to natural regeneration in temperate forests across the USA. *New Forests*, 50(1), 11–40. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11056-018-09694-6</u>
- Diaci, J., Gyoerek, N., Gliha, J., & Nagel, T. A. (2008). Response of Quercus robur L. seedlings to north-south asymmetry of light within gaps in floodplain forests of Slovenia. *Annals*

of Forest Science, 65(1), 105–105. https://doi.org/10.1051/forest:2007077

- Diaci, J., Rozman, J., & Rozman, A. (2020). Regeneration gap and microsite niche partitioning in a high alpine forest: Are Norway spruce seedlings more drought-tolerant than beech seedlings? Forest Ecology and Management, 455, 117688. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2019.117688
- Dietze, M. C., & Clark, J. S. (2008). Changing the gap dynamics paradigm: vegetative regeneration control on forest response to disturbance. *Ecological Monographs*, 78(3), 331–347. <u>https://doi.org/10.1890/07-0271.1</u>
- Dobrowolska, D. (2008). Effect of stand density on oak regeneration in flood plain forests in Lower Silesia, Poland. *Forestry*, 81(4), 511–523. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/forestry/cpn025</u>
- Dobrowolska, D., Załuski, D., Dąbrowski, W., Banul, R., & Borkowski, J. (2020). Factors affecting admixed pedunculate oak growth under heavy browsing by deer: benefits from inter- and intraspecific neighbourhoods. *European Journal of Forest Research*, 139(2), 155–167. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10342-020-01268-6</u>
- Dövényi, Z. (2010). Magyarország kistájainak katasztere [Cadastre of Hungarian regions]. *MTA Földrajztudományi Intézet, Budapest*.
- Fajardo, A., & de Graaf, R. (2004). Tree dynamics in canopy gaps in old-growth forests of Nothofagus pumilio in Southern Chile. *Plant Ecology* ((*Formerly Vegetation*), 173(1), 95–105. <u>https://doi.org/10.1023/b:vege.0000026333.54741.97</u>
- Feldmann, E., Lars Drößler, Hauck, M., Stanislav Kucbel, Pichler, V., & Leuschner, C. (2018). Canopy gap dynamics and tree understory release in a virgin beech forest, Slovakian Carpathians. *Forest Ecology and Management*, 415-416, 38–46. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2018.02.022</u>
- Felipe-Lucia, M. R., Soliveres, S., Penone, C., Fischer, M., Ammer, C., Boch, S., Boeddinghaus, R. S., Bonkowski, M., Buscot, F., Fiore-Donno, A. M., Frank, K., Goldmann, K., Gossner, M. M., Hölzel, N., Jochum, M., Kandeler, E., Klaus, V. H., Kleinebecker, T., Leimer, S., & Manning, P. (2020). Land-use intensity alters networks between biodiversity, ecosystem functions, and services. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, *117*(45), 28140–28149. <u>https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.2016210117</u>
- Fischer, H., Huth, F., Hagemann, U., & Wagner, S. (2016). Developing Restoration Strategies for Temperate Forests Using Natural Regeneration Processes. *Restoration of Boreal and Temperate Forests* (pp. 103-164). CRC Press.
- Food and Agricultural Organization of The United Nations. (2020).*Global Forest Resources* Assessment 2020. FAO. <u>https://doi.org/10.4060/ca9825en</u>
- Forest Europe. 2020 State of Europe's Forests 2020. https://foresteurope.org/state-europes-forests-2020/
- Fox, J., & Weisberg, S. (2019). An {R} Companion to Applied Regression (3rd ed.). Sage publishing. Thousand oaks, USA
- Gagnon, J. L., Jokela, E. J., Moser, W. K., & Huber, D. A. (2004). Characteristics of gaps and natural regeneration in mature longleaf pine flatwoods ecosystems. *Forest Ecology and Management*, *187*(2-3), 373–380. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2003.07.002
- Gálhidy, L., Mihók, B., Hagyó, A., Rajkai, K., & Standovár, T. (2006). Effects of gap size and associated changes in light and soil moisture on the understorey vegetation of a Hungarian beech forest. *Plant Ecology*, 183(1), 133–145. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11258-005-9012-4
- Gray, A. N., Spies, T. A., & Easter, M. J. (2002). Microclimatic and soil moisture responses to gap formation in coastal Douglas-fir forests. *Canadian Journal of Forest Research*, 32(2), 332–343. <u>https://doi.org/10.1139/x01-200</u>

- Gustafsson, L., Bauhus, J., Asbeck, T., Augustynczik, A. L. D., Basile, M., Frey, J., Gutzat, F., Hanewinkel, M., Helbach, J., Jonker, M., Knuff, A., Messier, C., Penner, J., Pyttel, P., Reif, A., Storch, F., Winiger, N., Winkel, G., Yousefpour, R., & Storch, I. (2020). Retention as an integrated biodiversity conservation approach for continuous-cover forestry in Europe. *Ambio*, 49(1), 85–97. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s13280-019-01190-1</u>
- Han, M., Tang, M., Shi, B., & Jin, G. (2020). Effect of canopy gap size on soil respiration in a mixed broadleaved-Korean pine forest: Evidence from biotic and abiotic factors. *European Journal of Soil Biology*, 99, 103194. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejsobi.2020.103194
- Heithecker, T. D., & Halpern, C. B. (2006). Variation in microclimate associated with dispersed-retention harvests in coniferous forests of western Washington. Forest Ecology and Management, 226(1-3), 60–71. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2006.01.024
- Hobi, M. L., Commarmot, B., & Harald Bugmann. (2015). Pattern and process in the largest primeval beech forest of Europe (Ukrainian Carpathians). *Journal of Vegetation Science*, *26*(2), 323–336. https://doi.org/10.1111/jvs.12234
- Holík, L., Rosíková, J., & Vranová, V. (2018). Effect of thinning on the amount of mineral nitrogen. *Journal of Forest Science*, 64(7), 289–295. <u>https://doi.org/10.17221/5/2018-jfs</u>
- Holladay, C.-A. ., Kwit, C., & Collins, B. (2006). Woody regeneration in and around aging southern bottomland hardwood forest gaps: Effects of herbivory and gap size. *Forest Ecology and Management*, 223(1-3), 218–225. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2005.11.004
- Hothorn, T., Bretz, F., Westfall, P., Heiberger, R. M., Schuetzenmeister, A., Scheibe, S., & Hothorn, M. T. (2016). Package 'multcomp'. Simultaneous inference in general parametric models. Project for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria.
- Hubbell, S. P., Foster, R. B., O'Brien, S. T., Harms, K. E., Condit, R., Wechsler, B., Wright, S. J., & de Lao, S. L. (1999). Light-Gap Disturbances, Recruitment Limitation, and Tree Diversity in a Neotropical Forest. *Science*, 283(5401), 554–557. <u>https://doi.org/10.1126/science.283.5401.554</u>
- Illés, G., & Móricz, N. (2022). Climate envelope analyses suggests significant rearrangements in the distribution ranges of Central European tree species. *Annals of Forest Science*, 79(1), 1-19. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13595-022-01154-8
- IPBES. 2018. The IPBES Regional Assessment Report on Biodiversity and Ecosystem Services for Europe and Central Asia. in M. Rounsevell, M. Fischer, A. Torre-Marin Rando, and A. Mader, editors. Secretariat of the Intergovernmental Science-Policy Platform on Biodiversity and Ecosystem Services, Bonn, Germany.
- Jáger, L., Schiberna, E., Ali, T. G., & Horváth, K. (2015). Forest land ownership change in Hungary. Vienna: COST Action FP1201 FACESMAP Country Report, European Forest Institute CentralEast and South-East European Regional Office.
- Johnson, P. S., Shifley, S. R., Rogers, R., Dey, D. C., & Kabrick, J. M. (2019). The ecology and silviculture of oaks. CABI, Wallingford, UK
- Kelly, DL (2002). The regeneration of Quercus petraea (sessile oak) in southwest Ireland: a 25-year experimental study. *Forest Ecology and Management*, 166 (1-3), 207-226. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0378-1127(01)00670-3
- Kenderes, K., Mihók, B. & Standovár, T. (2008) Thirty years of gap dynamics in a Central European beech forest reserve. *Forestry*, 81(1), 111-123. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/forestry/cpn001</u>

- Király, G., Virók, V., & Molnár, V. A. (2009). New Hungarian Herbal. The vascular plants of Hungary. Identification key ((In Hungarian). Aggteleki Nemzeti Park Igazgatóság, Jósvafő.
- Kirby, K. J., & Watkins, C. (2015). Evolution of modern landscapes. Europe's changing woods and forests: from wildwood to managed landscapes. CABI, Wallingford, UK
- Klimešová, J., & De Bello, F. (2009). *CLO-PLA:* the database of clonal and bud bank traits of Central European flora. *Journal of Vegetation Science*, 20(3), 511–516. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1654-1103.2009.01050.x
- Koenig, W. D., Díaz, M., Pulido, F., Alejano, R., Beamonte, E., & Knops, J. M. H. (2013). Acorn Production Patterns. *Landscape Series*, 181–209. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-94-007-6707-2_7</u>
- Koenig, W. D., Mumme, R. L., Carmen, W. J., & Stanback, M. T. (1994). Acorn Production by Oaks in Central Coastal California: Variation within and among Years. *Ecology*, 75(1), 99–109. <u>https://doi.org/10.2307/1939386</u>
- Kohler, M., Pyttel, P., Kuehne, C., Modrow, T., & Bauhus, J. (2020). On the knowns and unknowns of natural regeneration of silviculturally managed sessile oak (Quercus petraea (Matt.) Liebl.) forests—a literature review. *Annals of Forest Science*, 77(4). https://doi.org/10.1007/s13595-020-00998-2
- Kovács, B., Tinya, F., Németh, C., & Ódor, P. (2020). Unfolding the effects of different forestry treatments on microclimate in oak forests: results of a 4-yr experiment. *Ecological Applications*, 30(2). https://doi.org/10.1002/eap.2043
- Kuehne, C., Pyttel, P., Modrow, T., Kohnle, U., & Bauhus, J. (2020). Seedling development and regeneration success after 10 years following group selection harvesting in a sessile oak (Quercus petraea [Mattuschka] Liebl.) stand. Annals of Forest Science, 77(3). https://doi.org/10.1007/s13595-020-00972-y
- Kuijper, D. P. J., Cromsigt, J. P. G. M., Churski, M., Adam, B., Jędrzejewska, B., & Jędrzejewski, W. (2009). Do ungulates preferentially feed in forest gaps in European temperate forest? *Forest Ecology and Management*, 258(7), 1528–1535. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2009.07.010
- Kuiters, A. T., & Slim, P. A. (2003). Tree colonisation of abandoned arable land after 27 years of horse-grazing: the role of bramble as a facilitator of oak wood regeneration. *Forest Ecology and Management*, 181(1-2), 239–251. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/s0378-1127(03)00136-1</u>
- Kulakowski, D., Seidl, R., Holeksa, J., Kuuluvainen, T., Nagel, T. A., Panayotov, M., ... & Bebi, P. (2017). A walk on the wild side: Disturbance dynamics and the conservation and management of European mountain forest ecosystems. *Forest Ecology and Management*, 388, 120-131. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2016.07.037</u>
- Lambers, J. H. R., & Clark, J. S. (2003). Effects of dispersal, shrubs, and density-dependent mortality on seed and seedling distributions in temperate forests. *Canadian Journal of Forest Research*, 33(5), 783–795. <u>https://doi.org/10.1139/x03-001</u>
- Ligot, G., Balandier, P., Fayolle, A., Lejeune, P., & Claessens, H. (2013). Height competition between Quercus petraea and Fagus sylvatica natural regeneration in mixed and uneven-aged stands. *Forest Ecology and Management*, 304, 391–398. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2013.05.050</u>
- Lorimer, C. G., & Halpin, C. R. (2014). Classification and dynamics of developmental stages in late-successional temperate forests. *Forest ecology and management*, 334, 344-357. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2014.09.003</u>
- Malcolm, D. C., Mason, W. L., & Clarke, G. C. (2001). The transformation of conifer forests in Britain — regeneration, gap size and silvicultural systems. *Forest Ecology and Management*, 151(1-3), 7–23. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/s0378-1127(00)00692-7</u>

Mason, W. L., Diaci, J., Carvalho, J., & Valkonen, S. (2022). Continuous cover forestry in Europe: usage and the knowledge gaps and challenges to wider adoption. *Forestry: An International Journal of Forest Research*, 95(1), 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1093/forestry/cpab038

Matthews, J.D 1989. Silvicutural Systems. Oxford Scientific Publications, New York, USA

- McEwan, R. W., Dyer, J. M., & Pederson, N. (2011). Multiple interacting ecosystem drivers: toward an encompassing hypothesis of oak forest dynamics across eastern North America. *Ecography*, 34(2), 244–256. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-0587.2010.06390.x</u>
- Modrow, T., Kuehne, C., Saha, S., Bauhus, J., & Pyttel, P. L. (2020). Photosynthetic performance, height growth, and dominance of naturally regenerated sessile oak (Quercus petraea [Mattuschka] Liebl.) seedlings in small-scale canopy openings of varying sizes. *European Journal of Forest Research*, 139(1), 41–52. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10342-019-01238-7</u>
- Mölder, A., Sennhenn-Reulen, H., Fischer, C., Rumpf, H., Schönfelder, E., Stockmann, J., & Nagel, R.-V. (2019). Success factors for high-quality oak forest (Quercus robur, Q. petraea) regeneration. *Forest Ecosystems*, 6(1). <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s40663-019-0206-y</u>
- Muscolo, A., Bagnato, S., Sidari, M., & Mercurio, R. (2014). A review of the roles of forest canopy gaps. *Journal of Forestry Research*, 25(4), 725–736. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11676-014-0521-7
- Muys, B., Leuven, K., Bauhus, J., Bouriaud, L., & Cel, S. (2022). Forest Biodiversity in Europe IDENT (International Diversity Experiment with Trees) View project Short-and longterm responses of oak in Submediterranean region to extreme weather events using a tree-anatomical analysis and ecophysiological measurements (ARRS J4-7203) View project. <u>https://doi.org/10.36333/fs13</u>
- Naaf, T., & Wulf, M. (2007). Effects of gap size, light and herbivory on the herb layer vegetation in European beech forest gaps. *Forest Ecology and Management*, 244(1-3), 141–149. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2007.04.020
- Nagel, T. A., Mikac, S., Dolinar, M., Klopcic, M., Keren, S., Svoboda, M., Diaci, J., Boncina, A., & Paulic, V. (2017). The natural disturbance regime in forests of the Dinaric Mountains: A synthesis of evidence. *Forest Ecology and Management*, 388, 29–42. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2016.07.047</u>
- National Agrarian Centre (2022). Data on Hungary's forest. 2021
- Nowacki, G. J., & Abrams, M. D. (2008). The Demise of Fire and "Mesophication" of Forests in the Eastern United States. *BioScience*, *58*(2), 123–138. <u>https://doi.org/10.1641/b580207</u>
- Ovington, J. D., & MacRae, C. (1960). The Growth of Seedlings of Quercus Petraea. *The Journal of Ecology*, 48(3), 549. https://doi.org/10.2307/2257332
- Perea, R., Miguel, A. S., & Gil, L. (2011). Acorn dispersal by rodents: The importance of redispersal and distance to shelter. *Basic and Applied Ecology*, 12(5), 432–439. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.baae.2011.05.002</u>
- Petersson, L. K., Milberg, P., Bergstedt, J., Dahlgren, J., Felton, A. M., Götmark, F., Salk, C., & Löf, M. (2019). Changing land use and increasing abundance of deer cause natural regeneration failure of oaks: Six decades of landscape-scale evidence. *Forest Ecology* and Management, 444, 299–307. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2019.04.037</u>
- Petritan, A. M., Nuske, R. S., Petritan, I. C., & Tudose, N. C. (2013). Gap disturbance patterns in an old-growth sessile oak (Quercus petraea L.)–European beech (Fagus sylvatica L.) forest remnant in the Carpathian Mountains, Romania. *Forest Ecology and Management*, 308, 67–75. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2013.07.045</u>

- Peura, M., Burgas, D., Eyvindson, K., Repo, A., & Mönkkönen, M. (2018). Continuous cover forestry is a cost-efficient tool to increase multifunctionality of boreal production forests in Fennoscandia. *Biological Conservation*, 217, 104–112. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocon.2017.10.018
- Pinheiro, J., Bates, D., DebRoy, S., Sarkar, D., Heisterkamp, S., Van Willigen, B., & Maintainer, R. (2017). Package 'nlme'. Linear and nonlinear mixed effects models, 3(1), 274.
- Pommerening, A. (2004). A review of the history, definitions and methods of continuous cover forestry with special attention to afforestation and restocking. *Forestry*, 77(1), 27–44. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/forestry/77.1.27</u>
- Puettmann, K. J., Wilson, S. M., Baker, S. C., Donoso, P. J., Drössler, L., Amente, G., Harvey, B. D., Knoke, T., Lu, Y., Nocentini, S., Putz, F. E., Yoshida, T., & Bauhus, J. (2015). Silvicultural alternatives to conventional even-aged forest management - what limits global adoption? *Forest Ecosystems*, 2(1). <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s40663-015-0031-x</u>
- R Core Team (2022). R: A language and environment for statistical computing. R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria. URL <u>https://www.R-project.org/.</u>
- Saniga, M., Balanda, M., Kucbel, S., & Pittner, J. (2014). Four decades of forest succession in the oak-dominated forest reserves in Slovakia. *IForest - Biogeosciences and Forestry*, 7(5), 324–332. <u>https://doi.org/10.3832/ifor0996-007</u>
- Sapkota Prasad, I., Tigabu, M., & Christer Odén, P. (2009). Species diversity and regeneration of old-growth seasonally dry Shorea robusta forests following gap formation. *Journal of Forestry Research*, 20(1), 7–14. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11676-009-0002-6
- Schütz, J. P., Pukkala, T., Donoso, P. J., & von Gadow, K. (2012). Historical emergence and current application of CCF. *Continuous cover forestry*, 1-28. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-94-007-2202-6_1</u>
- Schütz, J.-P., Saniga, M., Diaci, J., & Vrška, T. (2016). Comparing close-to-naturesilviculture with processes in pristine forests: lessons from Central Europe. *Annals of Forest Science*, 73(4), 911–921. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13595-016-0579-9
- Sebek, P., Bace, R., Bartos, M., Benes, J., Chlumska, Z., Dolezal, J., Dvorsky, M., Kovar, J., Machac, O., Mikatova, B., Perlik, M., Platek, M., Polakova, S., Skorpik, M., Stejskal, R., Svoboda, M., Trnka, F., Vlasin, M., Zapletal, M., & Cizek, L. (2015). Does a minimal intervention approach threaten the biodiversity of protected areas? A multi-taxa short-term response to intervention in temperate oak-dominated forests. *Forest Ecology and Management*, 358, 80–89. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2015.09.008
- Senf, C., & Seidl, R. (2021). Mapping the forest disturbance regimes of Europe. *Nature Sustainability*. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41893-020-00609-y</u>
- Senf, C., Pflugmacher, D., Zhiqiang, Y., Sebald, J., Knorn, J., Neumann, M., Hostert, P., & Seidl, R. (2018). Canopy mortality has doubled in Europe's temperate forests over the last three decades. *Nature Communications*, 9(1). <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-018-</u> 07539-6
- Sevillano, I., Short, I., Grant, J., & O'Reilly, C. (2016). Effects of light availability on morphology, growth and biomass allocation of Fagus sylvatica and Quercus robur seedlings. *Forest Ecology and Management*, 374, 11–19. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2016.04.048
- Shaw, M. W. (1968). Factors Affecting the Natural Regeneration of Sessile Oak (Quercus Petraea) in North Wales: II. Acorn Losses and Germination Under Field Conditions. *The Journal of Ecology*, 56(3), 647. <u>https://doi.org/10.2307/2258097</u>
- Sommerfeld, A., Senf, C., Buma, B., D'Amato, A. W., Després, T., Díaz-Hormazábal, I., Fraver, S., Frelich, L. E., Gutiérrez, Á. G., Hart, S. J., Harvey, B. J., He, H. S., Hlásny, T., Holz, A., Kitzberger, T., Kulakowski, D., Lindenmayer, D., Mori, A. S., Müller, J.,

& Paritsis, J. (2018). Patterns and drivers of recent disturbances across the temperate forest biome. *Nature Communications*, 9(1). <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-018-06788-9</u>

- Sork, V. L., Bramble, J., & Sexton, O. (1993). Ecology of Mast-Fruiting in Three Species of North American Deciduous Oaks. *Ecology*, 74(2), 528–541. <u>https://doi.org/10.2307/1939313</u>
- Standovár, T. & Kenderes, K. (2003). A review on natural stand dynamics in beechwoods of east central europe. *Applied Ecology and Environmental Research*, 1(1-2), 19–46. <u>https://doi.org/10.15666/aeer/01019046</u>
- Stimm, K., Heym, M., Uhl, E., Tretter, S., & Pretzsch, H. (2021). Height growth-related competitiveness of oak (Quercus petraea (Matt.) Liebl. and Quercus robur L.) under climate change in Central Europe. Is silvicultural assistance still required in mixedspecies stands? *Forest Ecology and Management*, 482, 118780. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2020.118780
- St-Pierre, A. P., Shikon, V., & Schneider, D. C. (2018). Count data in biology—Data transformation or model reformation? *Ecology and Evolution*, 8(6), 3077–3085. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/ece3.3807</u>
- TEEB (2010). The Economics of Ecosystems and Biodiversity Ecological and Economic Foundations. Earthscan: London and Washington.
- Thom, D., & Seidl, R. (2015). Natural disturbance impacts on ecosystem services and biodiversity in temperate and boreal forests. *Biological Reviews*, 91(3), 760–781. https://doi.org/10.1111/brv.12193
- Tinya, F., Márialigeti, S., Király, I., Németh, B., & Ódor, P. (2009). The effect of light conditions on herbs, bryophytes and seedlings of temperate mixed forests in Őrség, Western Hungary. *Plant Ecology*, 204(1), 69–81. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11258-008-9566-z</u>
- Tinya, F., & Ódor, P. (2016). Congruence of the spatial pattern of light and understory vegetation in an old-growth, temperate mixed forest. *Forest Ecology and Management*, 381, 84–92. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2016.09.027
- Tinya, F., Kovács, B., Aszalós, R., Tóth, B., Csépányi, P., Németh, C., & Ódor, P. (2020). Initial regeneration success of tree species after different forestry treatments in a sessile oak-hornbeam forest. *Forest Ecology and Management*, 459, 117810. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2019.117810
- Tobisch, T. (2010). Gap-phase Regeneration of a Central-European Sessile Oak-Hornbeam Forest. *South-East European Forestry*, 1(1), 28–40. <u>https://doi.org/10.15177/seefor.10-04</u>
- Turner, M. G. (2010). Disturbance and landscape dynamics in a changing world. *Ecology*, 91(10), 2833–2849. <u>https://doi.org/10.1890/10-0097.1</u>
- Van Couwenberghe, R., Gégout, J.-C., Lacombe, E., & Collet, C. (2013). Light and competition gradients fail to explain the coexistence of shade-tolerant Fagus sylvatica and shade-intermediate Quercus petraea seedlings. *Annals of Botany*, 112(7), 1421– 1430. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/aob/mct200</u>
- Vera, F. W. M. (2000). Grazing ecology and forest history. CABI, Wallingford, UK
- Vernay, A., Balandier, P., Guinard, L., Améglio, T., & Malagoli, P. (2016). Photosynthesis capacity of Quercus petraea (Matt.) saplings is affected by Molinia caerulea (L.) under high irradiance. *Forest Ecology and Management*, 376, 107–117. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2016.05.045</u>
- Vilhar, U., Roženbergar, D., Simončič, P., & Diaci, J. (2014). Variation in irradiance, soil features and regeneration patterns in experimental forest canopy gaps. *Annals of Forest Science*, 72(2), 253–266. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s13595-014-0424-y</u>

- Von Lupke, B. (1998). Silvicultural methods of oak regeneration with special respect to shade tolerant mixed species. *Forest Ecology and Management*, 106, 19–26.
- Wang, X., Liu, J., He, Z., Xing, C., Zhu, J., Gu, X., Lan, Y., Wu, Z., Liao, P., & Zhu, D. (2021). Forest gaps mediate the structure and function of the soil microbial community in a Castanopsis kawakamii forest. *Ecological Indicators*, 122, 107288. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolind.2020.107288
- Webster, C. R., & Lorimer, C. G. (2005). Minimum opening sizes for canopy recruitment of midtolerant tree species: a retrospective approach. *Ecological Applications*, 15(4), 1245–1262. <u>https://doi.org/10.1890/04-0763</u>
- White, P. S., & Picket, S. T. A. (1985). Natural Disturbance and Patch Dynamics: An Introduction. In S. T. A. Pickett & P. S. White (Eds.), The Ecology of Natural Disturbance and Patch Dynamics (pp. 3–13). Orlando, United States: Academic Press Inc.
- Whitmore, T. C. (1989). Canopy Gaps and the Two Major Groups of Forest Trees. *Ecology*, 70(3), 536–538. <u>https://doi.org/10.2307/1940195</u>
- Yamamoto, S., & Nishimura, N. (1999). Canopy gap formation and replacement pattern of major tree species among developmental stages of beech (Fagus crenata) stands, Japan. *Plant Ecology*, 140, 167–176.
- Yang, Y., Geng, Y., Zhou, H., Zhao, G., & Wang, L. (2017). Effects of gaps in the forest canopy on soil microbial communities and enzyme activity in a Chinese pine forest. *Pedobiologia*, 61, 51–60. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pedobi.2017.03.001</u>
- Zhu, J., Lu, D., & Zhang, W. (2014). Effects of gaps on regeneration of woody plants: a metaanalysis. *Journal of Forestry Research*, 25(3), 501–510. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11676-014-0489-3</u>

APPENDICES

Appendix 1: List of the understory species.

Functional groups: WD = Woody, PF = Perennial Forb, GR = Graminoid, AF = Annual Forb.

	Functional	Frequency	Mean cover
Species	Group	(%)	(%)
Acer campestre	WD	10.00	0.0235
Ajuga reptans	PF	13.33	0.0508
Athyrium filix-femina	PF	3.33	0.0521
Brachypodium pinnatum	GR	10.00	0.5606
Bromus benekenii	GR	3.33	0.0391
Cardamine bulbifera	PF	33.33	1.3845
Carex pilosa	GR	80.00	23.2177
Carpinus betulus	WD	53.33	0.4902
Cephalanthera longifolia	PF	3.33	0.0130
Convallaria majalis	PF	13.33	0.5345
Cornus sanguinea	WD	13.33	0.0508
Dactylis polygama	GR	3.33	0.0026
Euphorbia amygdaloides	PF	26.67	0.2386
Fragaria vesca	PF	36.67	0.8656
Fraxinus ornus	WD	3.33	0.0026
Galium aparine	AF	16.67	0.0939
Galium odoratum	PF	10.00	0.3976
Galium schultesii	PF	73.33	6.5497
Hieracium sabaudum	PF	6.67	0.0091
Hypericum hirsutum	PF	6.67	0.0287
Hypericum perforatum	PF	3.33	0.0391
Impatiens parviflora	AF	16.67	1.2306
Lathyrus niger	PF	3.33	0.0065
Lathyrus vernus	PF	30.00	0.2597
Ligustrum vulgare	WD	3.33	0.0391
Luzula luzuloides	GR	3.33	0.0026
Lysimachia punctata	PF	3.33	0.1564
Melampyrum nemorosum	AF	6.67	0.0078
Melampyrum pratense	AF	3.33	0.0078
Melica uniflora	GR	100.00	20.0759
Melittis melissophyllum	PF	56.67	0.9842
Moehringia trinervia	AF	10.00	0.0042
Mycelis muralis	PF	3.33	0.0104
Parietaria officinalis	PF	3.33	0.2868
Poa nemoralis	GR	50.00	1.4105
Polygonatum multiflorum	PF	10.00	0.3911
Prunus avium	WD	6.67	0.0104
Quercus cerris	WD	3.33	0.0078
Quercus petraea	WD	100.00	14.5968

	Functional	Frequency	Mean cover
Species	Group	(%)	(%)
Ranunculus ficaria	PF	10.00	0.8630
Rubus fruticosus agg.	PF	60.00	22.2139
Rumex sanguineus	PF	3.33	0.0782
Scrophularia nodosa	PF	6.67	0.0196
Stachys sylvatica	PF	6.67	0.8474
Stellaria holostea	PF	60.00	1.3847
Stellaria media	AF	3.33	0.0052
Symphytum tuberosum	PF	3.33	0.0026
Tanacetum corymbosum	PF	6.67	0.0078
Urtica dioica	PF	3.33	0.1304
Veratrum nigrum	PF	6.67	0.1043
Veronica chamaedrys	PF	10.00	0.0065
Veronica officinalis	PF	3.33	0.0013
Vicia sepium	PF	3.33	0.0391
Viola alba	PF	6.67	0.0130
Viola reichenbachiana	PF	46.67	0.1499

Appendix 2: Photos of the treatments in the fourth year after treatment intervention.

The treatments are a) control, b) large circular, c) large elongated, d) small circular, c) small elongated gaps. (photos taken by Flóra Tinya)



e)

Appendix 3: Hemispherical photographs of the treatments taken at the northern part of the plots.

The treatments are a) control, b) large circular, c) large elongated, d) small circular, c) small elongated gaps. (photos taken by Flóra Tinya)





